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Statement of compliance for 
the year ended 30 June 2019

Hon. Paul Papalia CSC MLA  
Minister for Small Business

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the 
annual report of the Small Business Development 
Corporation for the reporting period ended  
30 June 2019.

The annual report has been prepared  
in accordance with the provisions of the  
Financial Management Act 2006.

Steven Dobson  
Chair
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Overview of agency
About the SBDC

The Small Business Development Corporation 
(SBDC) is an independent statutory authority of the 
Government of Western Australia (WA), established 
in 1984 under the Small Business Development 
Corporation Act 1983 (SBDC Act).

What we do
The primary role of the SBDC is to encourage, 
promote, facilitate and assist the establishment, 
growth and development of small business in WA.

This is achieved by providing advice, guidance 
and business skill development programs to small 
business owners. The SBDC also offers a dispute 
resolution service, maintains a drop-in information 
centre with a comprehensive range of business 
resources and delivers workshops for existing and 
aspiring small business operators.

The SBDC works directly with small business 
owners and liaises with industry and business 
associations to exchange information and provide 
support and assistance to their members. The 
SBDC also provides advice and support to the 
Minister for Small Business on matters affecting the 
sector, including the effect of government policy 
and legislation on small business.

Through these and other avenues, the SBDC raises 
awareness of the importance of small business to 
the economy and advocates for policy settings that 
nurture the growth and diversity of the sector.

Responsible Minister
As at 30 June 2019, the Hon. Paul Papalia CSC MLA, 
Minister for Small Business, has responsibility for 
the SBDC.

Enabling legislation
The SBDC Act makes provision for the 
establishment of the SBDC and Small Business 
Commissioner to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and assist the establishment, development and 
carrying on of small business in the state and 
provide dispute resolution services, and  
for incidental and other purposes.

Our vision
A strong and enterprising small business sector in WA.

Our mission
To facilitate relevant, practical support to small 
businesses and advocate on their behalf.

Our values
Enterprise - we value a solution-focused  
and inventive culture.

Collaboration - we actively work with others  
to achieve shared goals.

Integrity - we act with courage, honesty  
and respect.

Hon. Paul Papalia CSC MLA  
Minister for Small Business 

Small Business Development Corporation  
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Our strategic objectives
In accordance with our strategic plan, the  
SBDC strives to:

• offer targeted, contemporary and practical 
services across WA

• evolve our business model to be agile and 
future-focused

• build strategic alliances and partnerships

• advocate for small business

• contribute to the growth and diversity of the 
WA economy.

What is small business?
The SBDC Act defines a ‘small business’ as a business 
undertaking that is wholly owned and operated by 
an individual person, persons in partnership, or by 
a proprietary company within the meaning of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and which:

1. has a relatively small share of the market in 
which it operates

2. is managed personally by the owner or 
owners or directors, as the case requires

3. is not a subsidiary of, or does not form part  
of, a larger business or enterprise.

The SBDC uses the standard Australian Bureau of 
Statistics (ABS) definition of small business, which 
is any non-employing business or a business 
employing fewer than 20 staff.

Small business statistics
As at June 2018, there were 224,270 actively 
trading small businesses in WA, which represent  
97 per cent of all businesses in the state.

 

agriculture, 
forestry and fishing 

(16,116)

7%
construction  

(40,176 small businesses 
or 18% of all small 

businesses)

18%
professional, scientific 
and technical services 

(26,638)

12%
rental, hiring and 

real estate services 
(24,404)

11%
financial and 

insurance services 
(21,535)

10%

The industries with the 
largest number of small 
businesses in WA are:

(ABS Cat. No. 8165.0 - Counts of Australian 
Businesses, including Entries and Exits, 
June 2014 to June 2018)

Small Business Development Corporation  
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Executive summary
Chair’s report

On behalf of the Small Business Development 
Corporation (SBDC) Board, it is an honour to 
introduce this year’s annual report. It is my 
first report as Chair, and I am conscious that 
2018/19  builds on the work of the many people 
before me who have shaped the SBDC and the 
way it so effectively supports small businesses 
throughout WA. I would particularly like to 
acknowledge the dedication my predecessor,  
Ms Kitty Prodonovich, brought to the Board  
and the impressive legacy she leaves behind.

While the broader public sector continues to 
respond to the challenges presented by an 
evolving global economy, the core purpose of 
the SBDC remains consistent – to encourage, 
facilitate and assist the establishment, growth and 
development of small business in WA. New and 
innovative programs have furthered the SBDC’s 
reputation, reinforcing its vision for a strong and 
enterprising small business sector. 

I continue to be impressed by the high-level 
strategic work undertaken by the SBDC, including 
its role in shaping reforms that will benefit the 
construction industry, which incorporates the 
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establishment of its new Investigations and Inquiry 
Unit. The unit will support the Small Business 
Commissioner to investigate complaints from 
small businesses about unfair practices in both the 
public and private sector; enabling him to provide 
access to justice and insights about business 
behaviour for appropriate government agencies. 
This represents an important enhancement of the 
Corporation’s services to small business.

As a relatively small agency, the 
SBDC punches above its weight 
when it comes to program 
delivery and responding to the 
constantly changing nature of  
the small business landscape. 

As this report demonstrates, the agency has 
achieved so much while still maintaining a 
consistent focus on financial accountability and 
compliance, in line with a broader government 
focus on managing public expenditure.

The Business Local service, providing outreach 
advisory services in the regions on behalf of the 
SBDC, continues to go from strength to strength. 
Combined with the services delivered in the metro 
area, the huge impact these services have on 
the economy, as new businesses are forged and 
established businesses hone their business skills, 
cannot be underestimated. 

Arguably the most compelling of the many 
statistics in this report, which together support 
the assertion that the SBDC is providing an 
outstanding service, is the figure 98; the 
percentage of clients who were satisfied with 
their overall experience. It is a figure very few 
organisations can claim and is a wonderful 
testament to the quality of the SBDC staff and 
impeccable service they provide.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge and thank all 
my fellow Board members for their contribution 
and commitment and for being passionate 
advocates of the small business sector. 

Chair's report continued

Steven Dobson  
Chair, SBDC Board

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Year

97%

2,200+ 

$752m+ 

in review 2018-19

organisations partnered 
with through SBDC 
outreach

injected into the 
WA economy by 
business migrants

of clients said accessing 
SBDC services was easy

commercial 
tenancy related 
enquiries handled

56,000+ 
services delivered 

1,000+
workshops and information 
sessions delivered

76

98%

of clients satisfied 
with their overall 

experience 16,000 
workshop and information  

session participants
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Operational structure

SBDC Board
The SBDC is governed by an independent Board, 
drawn from the private sector under the auspices 
of the SBDC Act.

Membership as at 30 June 2019

• Steven Dobson (Chair)

• Grant Cucel

• Sophie Dwyer

• Nicolle Jenkins

• Anthony Masi

• Colette McEntee

• David Eaton (ex officio)

(For Board members’ biographies see pages 42-43).

Small Business Commissioner
David Eaton is the WA Small Business 
Commissioner and Chief Executive Officer of the 
SBDC. This dual role, reporting to the Board, is 
responsible for the day-to-day operation of the 
SBDC and the provision of the small business 
dispute resolution service.

The key services of the SBDC include:

• small business advisory

• commercial tenancy advisory

• dispute resolution

• business migration program

• policy review and development, advocacy  
 and advice to all tiers of government

• Business Local.

Small business advisory services
The SBDC’s foundation service is the delivery of 
advice and guidance to existing and prospective 
small business operators to aid the development 
and growth of the sector in WA. These services are 
provided online, through face-to-face meetings, 
by phone and email. General information is also 
distributed through third parties, and traditional 
and social media.

Walk-in clients can access services at the SBDC’s 
business information centre in Perth's CBD. 
Workshops to develop business skills across a 
range of topics are delivered throughout the state. 
(See page 19 for details of 2018-19 achievements.)

Commercial tenancy advisory service
The SBDC provides free information and guidance 
to tenants and landlords on the Commercial 
Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985 and 
other aspects of commercial leasing, with specialist 

commercial tenancy advisers assisting in person or 
by phone and email.

The service is supported with publications 
providing detailed information on commercial 
tenancy matters, which are available to download 
from the SBDC website. (See page 21 for details of 
2018-19 achievements.)

Dispute resolution service (DRS) 
The DRS is a low-cost, non-litigious means of 
resolving business-to-business and business-to-
government disputes involving small businesses. 
Clients have found the service to be particularly 
useful to resolve retail tenancy disputes. In many 
cases, the SBDC is the first port of call for small 
business owners who find themselves in dispute 
with another business or government agency.  
(See page 31 for details of 2018-19 achievements.)

Business Migration program
The WA Business Migration program, managed 
by the SBDC, is a key investment attraction 
initiative for the state. Business migrants provide 
a significant source of new capital, export income 
and employment by establishing new businesses 
or purchasing existing enterprises. (See page 28 for 
details of 2018-19 achievements.)

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Policy, advocacy and advice  
to government
The SBDC ensures the small business voice 
is heard and considered by governments at 
all levels, through evidence-based advocacy, 
research, submissions, representation 
and liaison. The agency has a significant 
influence on policy development related 
to small business, particularly in relation 
to reducing the impact of regulation and 
improving the operating environment. 
(See page 37 for details of 2018-19 
achievements.)

Business Local service
Business Local provides outreach business 
advisory services in regional areas on behalf 
of the SBDC. Managed by six providers 
across 10 designated regions, services  
are delivered in ways that best suit the 
needs of local small business owners.  
In the Perth metropolitan area enterprise 
skill development workshops are delivered 
either in person or via digital channels  
by a panel of 15 service providers.  
(See pages 19 and 23 for details of  
2018-19 achievements.)

Organisational structure

Small Business 
Services

• Advisory services

• Dispute resolution 

• Business information 
and programs 

• Business migration

• Business Local service 

• Outreach services 

Policy and  
Advocacy

• Policy evaluation  
and advice 

• Advocacy 

• Regulatory reform 

• Research and statistics 

• Business and 
government liaison 

Communications  
and Marketing

• Marketing  
and promotion 

• Digital 
communication 

• Media 

• Stakeholder liaison 

• Events 

Corporate  
Resources

• Financial resources 

• Human resources 

• Records management 

• ICT resources 

• Administrative 
support 

Small Business Development Corporation

Small Business Commissioner/Chief Executive Officer

Board of Management

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Outcome-based management framework 

Government goal: Future jobs 
and skills - grow and diversify 
the economy, create jobs and 
support skills development.

Desired 
Outcome

Effectiveness 
indicator Service Efficiency indicators

Development of 
new and existing 
small businesses 
in WA.

The extent to which 
clients rate the 
usefulness of the 
information and 
guidance provided 
to them.

Information, 
guidance, referral 
and business 
development 
services.

• Average cost per 
direct client contact.

• Average cost per 
indirect client contact.

• Average cost per 
Business Local service 
client contact.

• Cost of policy advice.

Changes to the outcome-based 
management framework
The framework did not change during the 
reporting period.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The SBDC shared responsibility for a farm debt 
mediation service with the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development (Agriculture 
and Food).
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Agency performance
Financial targets

1 As specified in the 2018-19 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 1) pages 221-228
2 Further explanations are contained in Note 8.5 “Explanatory Statement to the financial statements”

2018-19 
Target 
$’000 1

2018-19 
Actual 
$’000

Variation 
$’000 Explanation of significant variations2

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(sourced from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

12,644 12,451 193 The variance is due mainly to reduced employee benefits expense 
relating to delays in filling a number of vacancies. 

Net cost of services (sourced from 
Statement of Comprehensive Income)

12,322 11,792 530 In addition to the variation in total cost of services above is an increase 
in income of $336K due mainly to additional Business Migration fees, 
return of unspent funds under the Business Local service and grants 
income received from the Office of Multicultural Interests.

Total equity (sourced from Statement 
of Financial Position)

1,424 3,008 1,584 The increase in total equity is due primarily to a higher than expected 
surplus for the period.

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)

(16) 966 982 The increase is primarily due to additional income received together 
with under expense in the Business Local service resulting from delays 
in program implementation.

Approved full-time equivalent (FTE) 
staff level

52 51 1

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Summary of client perceptions

In addition to the audited key 
performance indicators (KPIs),  
the SBDC measures its 
performance through client 
surveys to determine the:

• usefulness of information and guidance 
provided

• contribution the service made to an informed 
decision to start or buy a business

• extent the information or guidance benefited 
the operations of the business

• value to businesses of the guidance or 
information received.

Similar to previous reporting periods, very high 
levels of satisfaction were achieved during 2018-19.

• 95 per cent of survey participants rated the 
information/guidance provided as very or 
somewhat useful.

• 85 per cent believed support provided had 
contributed to their decision to start or buy  
a business.

• 87 per cent of business owners said the 
information or advice had benefited the 
operations of their business.

• 89 per cent of those surveyed said they valued 
the information or guidance received.

The SBDC achieved an overall customer service 
index rating of 94 per cent. The index measures 
the extent to which the SBDC and Business Local 
service satisfies customer enquiries and requests 
for assistance. It is comprised of five individual 
performance indicators.

Likely to use  
service again

95%

Information and 
advice was of benefit 

to their business

87%

Information and  
advice was useful

95%

Accessing the  
service was easy

97%

Satisfied with overall  
SBDC experience

98%

Telephone surveys were undertaken 

with a random selection of clients 

who had directly sought information 

and guidance during 2018-19. 728 

client surveys were completed, giving 

a maximum standard error ratio of + 

/ - 3.5% at the 95% confidence level. 

85% of clients contacted agreed to 

participate in the survey.

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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David Eaton with the 
Australian Small Business 
and Family Enterprise 
Ombudsman, and small 
business commissioners 
from other states

Chief Executive Officer’s report

While WA continues to enjoy a reputation as a 
mining state and is home to some of Australia's 
biggest resource companies, it is small business 
that is seen as a major contributor to the state's 
future growth – with 97 per cent of all its 
businesses classified as small. The sector provides 
almost half a million jobs.

The State Government recognises that small 
business is the key to creating a more vibrant  
and diversified economy. As the WA economy 
evolves, the role played by small business 
in driving innovation, diversification and 
employment – the fundamental components  
of a strong and sustainable economy – will 
become even more significant. 

As is the case internationally, Australian 
governments have accepted that their active 
support of small business, beyond regulatory 
frameworks, is essential to boost the strength  
and capability of the sector. The SBDC plays a  
vital role in providing that support through a  
range of programs and services delivered directly 
to small business owners and operators. As well as 
providing information and advice that empowers 
small business owners to make well informed 
business decisions, our workshops continue to 
assist in the development of enterprise skills. 

We are also providing essential ‘access to justice’ 
through our dispute resolution service, averting 
millions of dollars in costly litigation.

As you will read in this report, demand for our 
services remains strong and customer satisfaction 
ratings are again outstanding. These results 
are a reflection of the SBDC team’s enduring 
commitment to our customers and a positive 
‘can-do’ culture. To ensure we are meeting client 
needs our workshop program continues to 
evolve, with a much broader range of 
options now available throughout WA.

Our advocacy and advice to all tiers 
of government on regulatory 
reform and other procedural 
and operational improvements 
is helping to reshape the 

small business operating environment. During the 
year, we contributed to 19 significant reviews and 
regulatory proposals at federal and state levels. 

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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This was in areas as diverse as payment reform, 
contract law, retail and franchising codes of 
conduct, business licensing and small business tax. 
We continued to work collaboratively with other 
state-based small business commissioners and  
the Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise 
Ombudsman on matters of national significance. 

Our Small Business Friendly Local 
Governments initiative goes from 
strength to strength, with almost 
57 per cent of all small businesses 
in WA now operating within a 
‘small business friendly’ local 
government area. 

The plans emanating from the 33 participating 
metropolitan and regional local governments 
are helping to nurture more positive operating 
environments for tens of thousands of small 
businesses. Meanwhile, the Small Business Friendly 
Projects initiative, launched in 2018, has already 
received a positive response from several State 
and local government agencies involved in public 
works. They have welcomed our range of practical 

support materials to help them better engage  
with small business owners affected by 
construction projects.

The SBDC’s strong performance in each of these 
core areas has helped lay the foundations to 
establish a new specialised unit within the agency 
to conduct inquiries and investigations, initially 
with a focus on the construction industry. This 
new team will support me in fulfilling a statutory 
role, to receive complaints from small businesses 
who have not received payment when working on 
public works projects; have been treated unfairly; 
or are experiencing injustice, often arising from an 
imbalance of power. 

The SBDC’s staff are the backbone of the 
organisation, dedicating themselves tirelessly to 
supporting WA’s small businesses. Client feedback 
surveys expressing outstanding satisfaction levels 
are testament to the unerring focus, genuine 
empathy and unparalleled expertise of the SBDC 
team. I also acknowledge the Minister for Small 
Business, the Chair and members of the SBDC 
Board for their support of the agency throughout 
the year. Most importantly, I applaud the huge 
contribution made by WA’s entrepreneurs in 
ensuring our economy remains robust, diverse  
and strong.

Chief Executive Officer’s report continued

David Eaton  
Small Business Commissioner  

Chief Executive Officer  
Small Business Development Corporation

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Activity reports

Delivery of targeted, 
contemporary and 
practical services  
across WA
The SBDC provides a range of products and 
services to assist small businesses throughout 
the state. This includes the provision of free, 
confidential and independent information  
and advice across a broad range of critical areas 
of business management and operations. We 
provide these services using various channels 
including online, business advisory sessions  
and workshops.

Our services range from supporting intenders or 
people starting out in business, through to existing 
and more mature business operators.

Online services 
Our services play a key role in supporting 
businesses within WA. The growing importance  
of services delivered online can be seen across  
the whole SBDC.

Free, practical online tools covering financial 
management, industry research, business 
planning, marketing and debt recovery are 
available on our website and are designed to  
make planning and running a business easier.

The online Business Licence Finder enables 
individuals to search, discover and inform 
themselves about their business compliance 
obligations across all levels of government.  
During 2018-19, 14,612 existing and aspiring 
business owners accessed this service.

We assisted 2,895 clients to access detailed  
market research information about their industry 
sector and financial performance, including  
2,329 searches using IBISWorld industry data and 
566 Australian financial benchmarking reports. 
By using these tools, business clients are able to 
build a detailed insight  to help them understand 
their market and learn more about their industry, 
customers and competitors and uncover  
new opportunities.

An online form was implemented on our  
website enabling clients to ask a business  
adviser to contact them, thus expanding the 
range of channels through which clients can 
communicate with the SBDC.

Online

Total  
services  

delivered

One-to-one  
information  
and advice

 Group sessions  
(including workshops)

28%

31% 41%

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Activity reports
Case study

With a dream of 'doing aged care differently’, nurses Julie Arnould and Carole 
Bain had a wealth of experience in healthcare and big business, but neither 
had run their own business. They turned to the SBDC for help to launch 
Perth Care + Companion Company.

“We attended all their workshops, which were really practical and 
saved us a lot of time and effort trying to work out where to begin. 
Interacting with other people in the workshops really inspired us to 
give it a go.

The tools and resources on the SBDC website 
helped keep us on track and the networking 
available through the SBDC Facebook group 
‘I’m a small business owner in Western 
Australia’ linked us with our web designer, 
graphic designer and accountant. 

Without the help of SBDC, we may never have got past the first post as it 
was difficult to know where to start. We believe the workshops, advice and 
resources supplied by SBDC have saved us a lot of stress and costly mistakes, 
and avoided missed opportunities.”

Carole Bain and Julie Arnould   Perth Care & Companion Company
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Business advisory service

General advice

The SBDC provides advice to small businesses 
throughout the state either in person, through 
digital channels or via third party service providers. 
Assistance is provided on a range of topics, 
including start-up strategies, business growth 
plans, business resilience guidance and help with 
business exits.

There were 11,872 client enquiries for information 
and advice received by the SBDC (excluding third 

party providers), of which 12 per cent related to 
a dispute. Forty two per cent of enquiries were 
received from pre-start or new business owners 
seeking information and advisory support.

The advisory team also identified trends and issues 
arising in the sector and contributed to small 
business owner education through blog articles 
for the SBDC website and regular radio segments 
on RTRFM.

Business Local regional

Business Local is the SBDC’s business advisory 
outreach service in regional WA, with six providers 
delivering the service across 10 regions.

A new contract to deliver the Business Local 
service commenced in July 2018 for an initial 
period of three years. This also provided an 
opportunity for the SBDC to introduce additional 
services to better meet small business needs. 
These included an increase in the use of digital 
channels to deliver one-to-one advisory services 
and the provision of enterprise skill development 
workshops. The service is delivered free of charge 
by advisers with local knowledge and expertise.

During 2018-19 the Business Local regional service 
provided 10,405 one-to-one advisory sessions. 
In addition, a further 5,265 hours of advice were 

delivered through workshops. There were 4,517 
small businesses that accessed the service for the 
first time and 6,752 action plans created to guide 
individual business owners.

Activity reports

Categories of information sought by clients

Commercial tenancy 16% 

Starting a business 15%

Licensing and regulations 14%

Financial management 13% 

Other topics 42%

0% 100%50%25% 75%

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Activity reports
Case study

Theresa Lee launched her business six years ago, operating alone from 
temporary venues. Now The Yoga Lounge Northam has a team of 
around a dozen, offering yoga and meditation classes and other wellness 
services from permanent premises.

Theresa learned about the Business Local service  
in her region, funded by the SBDC and delivered  
by accountancy firm RSM, when she met one of  
their advisers at a yoga class. She found the 
advice and templates for creating a business 
plan particularly useful. 

“I thought I knew every detail about my business but creating a plan 
helped to clarify things more than I imagined possible. I’ve since felt 
confident about applying for grants and finance through my bank, all 
based on the details in the plan.

We are very lucky to have this service in the Wheatbelt. I’m so grateful 
for how much I’ve learnt and continue to learn, and I look forward to 
ongoing support.”

Theresa Lee   The Yoga Lounge Northam
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Commercial leasing advice

A lease for business premises is vital to many 
small businesses and is frequently central to the 
goodwill, value and future sale of the business. 
Leasing business premises is a significant 
financial decision. In addition to the initial capital 
investment, ongoing occupancy costs such as rent 
are significant business overheads.

The SBDC assists small business tenants, landlords 
and other industry stakeholders by providing 
specialist information and guidance on:

• the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act 1985 

• negotiating and leasing business premises, 
including those in shopping centres

• commercial tenancy disputes.

Activity reports

  Termination of tenancy 14%
  Starters advice 13%
  Operating expenses 13%
  Rent and rent review 12%
  Repairs and maintenance 8%
  Other 40%

  Rent and rent review 16%
  Operating expenses 15%
  Repairs and maintenance 11%
  Termination of tenancy 11%
  Refurbishment and fittings 11%
  Other 36%

2,215  
commercial  

tenancy  
enquiries

79%
Non-dispute  

related  
enquiries

21%
Dispute related 

enquiries  

Outcomes for 2018-19
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Activity reports
Case study

Commercial tenancy issues were behind  
Greg Baker’s decision to take his furniture  
and homewares business in a new direction  
and location. His previous premises resulted  
in frequent disputes with the landlord’s agent.

 “My sister and I were being overcharged for repairs, capital expenditure 
and other expenses and they made it very difficult for us to view and 
check the invoices.

We had no idea what rights we had or how to go about challenging  
this bullying behaviour, so we turned to the SBDC advisory service.  
Our SBDC adviser was exceptionally helpful, letting us know our rights 
and advising us throughout the process of taking the agent to the  
State Administrative Tribunal (SAT). And we won our case!

We’ve now taken the opportunity to develop our business model into  
a collective in new premises, where other small businesses, designers 
and artisans can sell their wares under our roof, without all the 
overheads of a bricks and mortar store, for a flat monthly fee.” 

Greg Baker   Angove Street Collective, North Perth
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Enterprise skill 
development 

Foundation workshops

The SBDC recognises enterprise 
skills development as being critical  
to small business growth. Small  
business owners with strong enterprise  
and entrepreneurial attributes are more  
likely to contribute to job creation and 
productivity growth.

By providing access to quality, supportive and 
affordable workshops, the SBDC continued to 
build the skills of WA’s small business community. 
The flagship ‘Starting a Business’ workshop, 
covering all the essentials a business intender 
needs to know, was presented to more than  
2,000 participants free of charge.

Almost 1,700 clients attended the SBDC’s other 
low cost workshops, covering topics such as how 
to write a business plan, marketing a business, 
understanding business financials and digital skills.

In addition to the weekday sessions, workshops 
held on a number of Saturday mornings attracted 
more than a third of total participants.

Business Local Perth metropolitan area

In July 2018, the SBDC implemented a revised 
service delivery model for the Business Local 
service in the metropolitan area. The service 
focuses on the development of enterprise skills 
in areas such as digital literacy, financial literacy, 
contracting and procurement, strategic planning 
and risk management, innovation, and  
business management.

Following a competitive tender process,  
15 providers were contracted to deliver services 
throughout the metropolitan area under the 
direction of the SBDC. Of these service providers, 

nine are small business operators, one is an 
Aboriginal owned business and the remainder are 
classified as not-for-profit or education providers.

The revised service encourages practical skill 
development using a one-to-many format 
delivered through a variety of channels such as 
workshops, forums, seminars and webinars. The 
workshops can be a few hours through to full day 
programs, including events delivered after-hours 
or on weekends. The SBDC has worked closely 
with key stakeholders, including local government 
authorities, business and industry associations, to 
ensure the needs of small businesses are identified 
and considered in the scheduling.

The workshop program has expanded the  
breadth of the SBDC’s services to more established 
business operators, in addition to those in the early 
stages of development usually captured through 
the foundation workshops.

Throughout 2018-19, the Business Local service 
delivered 333 workshops in the metropolitan 
area, attended by almost 3,000 participants, which 
equated to more than 10,000 advisory hours.

Activity reports

participants attended workshops 
and information sessions16,000

Small Business Development Corporation  
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Activity reports
Case study

Working with small business owners in her financial business advisory 
consultancy, Maylene How Son understands the challenges small business 
owners face and the worries that keep them awake at night.

Maylene’s biggest challenge when starting her own business was a lack  
of confidence. 

“Coming from a corporate career, you’re not exposed to all aspects 
of business. Being a sole trader, you have so much more to consider, 
including risk management, legal considerations, getting paid on time, 
and actually finding the work and completing it to client expectations.

My confidence in my business grew as I 
attended SBDC workshops, learning about 
everything from setting up a business, to social 
media and cash flow management. 

I now refer many small business owners to the SBDC. I advise them that 
before they spend any money, they call the SBDC for the business support 
they need but perhaps feel they cannot afford. It’s free! And learning from 
business advisors who are experts in their fields is simply priceless.”

Maylene How Son   Cash Flow Synergy, Perth
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Collaboration with strategic partners
To expand the reach and general awareness of 
the SBDC’s services and to support as many small 
businesses as possible, it is essential to leverage 
relationships with strategic partners.

A strategic relationship developed with Google 
enabled a two day Google Garage event to be 
held in Perth for the first time to support small 
businesses introducing digital tools into their 
operations. The SBDC promoted the free event  
to an extensive network of clients and  
partner organisations.

As an extension of the Small Business Friendly 
Local Governments initiative, SBDC business 
advisers took part in small group sessions hosted 
by local authorities covering relevant local 
business issues. ‘Talking Business’ sessions have 
been held with the Cities of Melville, Canning,  
and Cockburn, and the Town of East Fremantle.

Feedback from clients highlights that running 
a business can be exciting, challenging and 
often stressful. The SBDC has long advocated 
for resources that enable business owners to be 
more resilient and to recognise when they need 
assistance. In this context, the SBDC actively 
contributed to Beyond Blue’s small business 

project, which has created an interactive, practical 
resource to support mental wellbeing for small 
business operators and their advisers. The SBDC 
provided insights and case studies to inform the 
development of this resource, due to be launched 
in late 2019.

SBDC Outreach 

SBDC Outreach extends the reach of SBDC 
services by collaborating with industry and 
business associations, local governments, tertiary 
institutions, and other organisations to cost-
effectively reach a greater number of intending 
and existing small business owners. The program 
provides them with quality information and 
advice to assist the development of their business, 

leading to a stronger and more sustainable small 
business sector.

Events were generally held at an organisation’s 
premises, with information delivered by a range 
of specialist presenters. They were usually free 
of charge, delivered at a time and location 
convenient for the stakeholder members or 
networks. Topics covered were based on the 
SBDC’s foundation workshop suite and Business 
Local workshops.

In 2018-19, the SBDC worked with 76 organisations 
to deliver 182 workshops and events across the 
metropolitan area to more than 4,000 participants, 
a nine per cent increase in participants compared 
to the previous year.

Activity reports

SBDC staff with a  
Bandyup Women’s 
Prison staff member 
and the Hon. Francis 
Logan MLA, Minister 
for Corrective Services
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Activity reports
Case study

When the City of Canning’s Business 
Development Officer, Boris Wong, was looking  
for a new style of workshop to support businesses 
in his area, he turned to the SBDC.

The SBDC put Boris in touch with Joanna Arbel at the City of Melville 
who was pursuing a similar idea. Boris and Joanna worked with the 
SBDC to launch an initiative, Talking Business, where local governments 
bring together a small group of local business owners to discuss specific 
business topics in a relaxed, informal setting. 

“The SBDC played a crucial role in getting our initiative off the ground. 
Working with the SBDC was extremely easy – Joanna and I came up with 
the dates and topics, covering marketing, risk management and finance, 
and the SBDC provided an adviser for each of the sessions.

We’ve had very positive feedback from the attendees from both series 
we’ve run, with many complimenting the informality, networking 
opportunities and quality of advice.”

Boris Wong   Business Development Officer, City of Canning
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The Outreach team collaborated with a range of partners, including:

• Industry associations – Australian College 
of Nurse Practitioners, Australian Institute of 
Conveyancers WA, CircuitWest, Dog Groomers 
Association of WA, Marriage Celebrants 
Australia (WA), Pharmacy Guild of Australia 
(WA), Podiatry WA, WA Mobile Food Vendors 
Association, Wesbuilders Cooperative, West 
Australian Music Industry Association and 
Working Spirit

• Department of Justice – Bandyup, Boronia, 
Karnet, Hakea, Wooroloo and Casuarina prisons

• Educational institutions and training providers 
– ABS Institute, APS Institute, Business 
Foundations, Curtin University, Department 
of Defence, Edith Cowan University, Konekt 
Employment, MPA Skills, North Metro TAFE and 
South Metro TAFE

• Local government authorities – Cities of 
Belmont, Canning, Cockburn, Gosnells, 
Joondalup, Kalamunda, Melville, Stirling, 
Subiaco, Swan and Vincent, Towns of East 
Fremantle and Victoria Park

• Local business associations – Activate Perth, 
Economic Development Australia WA, Melville 
Cockburn Chamber of Commerce, Nifnex, 
Swan Chamber of Commerce, Rockingham 
Kwinana Chamber of Commerce, South West 
Group and Wanneroo Business Association

• Small business development interest groups/
futurists/collaborative working spaces – Bloom 
and Y.hub

• Government departments and agencies 
– Australian Taxation Office, Department 
of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, 
Department of Primary Industries and 
Regional Development, Goldfields-Esperance 
Development Commission, IP Australia  
and Lotterywest

• Multicultural groups – Australia India Business 
Association, Indian Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry Australia, and the Perth USAsia Centre

• Financial institutions – Financial Counsellors’ 
Association of WA and the Institute of  
Public Accountants.

Activity reports Small Business Development Corporation  
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WA Business Migration program
The SBDC is responsible for managing the  
WA Business Migration program on behalf of 
the State Government. This program is a key 
investment attraction initiative for WA, as business 
migrants make a significant contribution to the 
state’s economy through investment, establishing 
businesses and generating export income  
and employment.

The strategy for growing and protecting the state’s 
market share in key international markets is to 
work through and grow a network of migration 
agents and other organisations who refer clients 
to the state. We also visit overseas markets on a 
regular basis to support promotional activities,  
and meet with potential business migrants.

The SBDC promotes the state to migration  
agents and potential business migrants through 
local and international marketing initiatives.  
This year the staff responded to 1,597 State 
nomination and other enquiries from agents  
and business migrants.

The program attracts migrants by: 

• marketing the state as a leading destination  
for investment, employment, education  
and lifestyle

• providing information on business visas, and 
living, working and establishing a business in WA

• supporting qualifying clients with State 
nomination to become eligible to lodge a visa 
application with the Department of Home 
Affairs (DHA) under the Business Innovation 
and Investment Program. 

To generate maximum exposure for the Business 
Migration program and to assist new migrants in 
establishing and developing their businesses, the 
SBDC has strategic alliances with the: 

• Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and 
Innovation’s international trade and investment 
offices, jointly participating in events, 
presentations and attending appointments 
with potential business migrants

• Migration Institute of Australia and Migration 
Alliance, providing them with up-to-date 
information on the policies and criteria for 
State nomination for distribution to migration 
agents in WA and overseas

• DHA, as a member of the national Skilled 
Migration Officials Group, the SBDC assists 
with business migration policy development, 
strategies and initiatives.

New business migrants

During 2018-19, the SBDC approved State 
nomination for business migrants from  
29 countries to invest and establish businesses in  
WA. China (40 per cent) remains the top market for 
business migrants coming to the state, ahead of 
the combined markets of Malaysia and Singapore 
(16 per cent).

Representatives from the SBDC and WA’s 
international trade and investment offices 
participated in business migration activities  
in Perth and China, Malaysia and Singapore.  
There were also visits to the emerging market  
of Indonesia and the growing market in Vietnam. 

During 2018-19, 76 presentations and events were 
held internationally and in WA, attracting almost  
2,900 participants.

The SBDC received an annual allocation of  
300 State nominations from the DHA for WA.  
All were allocated by 7 June 2019. Receiving  
a decision by DHA on a business visa application 
can take more than a year. It can then take  
a further two to six years before the total  
investment reaches the WA economy.

Activity reports
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Activity reports
Case study

Husband and wife team Mohan and Jo Vig 
harnessed 20 years’ experience in the furniture and 
home décor industry in India to launch their own 
retail and wholesale distribution business in Perth.

According to Mohan, one of the main challenges was understanding the 
Australian retail market.

“We wanted guidance around leases, taxation and other legal aspects 
that are an essential part of doing business in Australia. 

We approached the SBDC's advisory service before and after our arrival 
here. We also attended their business workshops, which gave us exposure 
to other businesses and helped us establish ourselves in Australia.

Since implementing the guidelines provided by the SBDC's Business 
Migration and advisory services, the results have been very satisfying. We are 
now expanding our business by participating in trade shows and business 
platforms as suggested by the SBDC. We attribute so much of our success 
to the SBDC and recommend that any business owners needing guidance 
approach them.”

Mohan Vig   Mo and Jo Home Décor, Subiaco
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Activity reports

Finalised business migrants 

In this financial year, 133 business migrants 
who received their State nomination and 
visa approval between two and six years ago 
confirmed finalisation of their investment and/
or business establishment in WA. Investments 
and businesses established by migrants span a 
variety of industries, including construction, retail 
trade, wholesale distribution, accommodation and 
food services. Of the export businesses, products 
exported included energy, agricultural goods, 
health products and seafood.

Confirmed and finalised economic contribution to WA by Permanent Residency Business Visa holders

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Jobs created 157 148 257 1,032

Business exporting 12 15 8 15

Total net assets in WA $302.3M $305.1M $396.5M $752.5M

Net assets in business $139.8M $78.3M $161.4M $584.1M

Treasury Bonds and investments $20.0M $34.7M $63.7M $41M

Notes: 

• The significant increase for the 2018-19 program year is because two finalised business migrants 
made a combined economic contribution of 855 new jobs and $348.7M in total net assets.

• State nomination application fees have generated $320,250 during the financial year to assist funding 
of the program.

• New statistics on retained jobs (purchase of a business by a business migrant where employees were 
retained), collected for the first time in 2018-19, show 1,701 employees were retained.

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19
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Access to justice
The SBDC is improving access to justice for 
the small business sector by providing advice, 
information and low cost assistance to  
resolve disputes.

Dispute resolution service 

To clarify the function, in 2019 the SBDC altered 
the name of the alternative dispute resolution 
service to the dispute resolution service (DRS).

The DRS offers low-cost and practical assistance to 
small businesses in dispute with another business 
or government agency. It is a voluntary service 
and can provide parties with an opportunity to 
pursue negotiated solutions in a confidential 
environment. This may assist in avoiding the time 
and expense associated with legal proceedings. 
Parties are able to maintain control of their dispute 
while also considering options for resolution that 
may be more suitable to their circumstances when 
compared with traditional litigation outcomes.

As part of the service, DRS case managers provide 
independent and objective guidance to both 
parties in dispute through a process of intensive 
case management (ICM). Through ICM, managers 
assist the parties to identify the relevant issues 
in dispute, clarify their individual rights and 

Activity reports

Outcome of disputes  
referred to ADR in 2018-19

424
referrals to  

intensive case 
management

44%
Commercial  

tenancy  
issues

56%
Non-commercial  

tenancy  
issues

37
Cases referred 
to mediation*

98%
Cases finalised 

by intensive case 
management*

83%
Cases finalised 

by intensive case 
management*

Cases 
referred to 
mediation

17%2%

*Excluding active cases

Small Business Development Corporation  
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responsibilities and consider possible pathways to 
resolution. The process can be tailored to meet the 
individual needs of each party.

The DRS also provides a subsidised mediation 
service that can be offered to parties who could 
benefit from the assistance of a professionally 
accredited mediator in resolving their dispute. 
Mediations are typically held at the SBDC offices 
and each party is required to pay a small fee of 
$125. Case managers will work with the parties 
and mediator to ensure they are fully prepared 
for mediation and to maximise the potential for 
settlement on the day.

Additionally, the DRS has a prescribed role under 
the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements 
Act 1985 (CTA). Commercial tenancy disputes 
involving landlords or tenants seeking to enforce 
rights or obligations under the CTA are required 
to first attempt resolution of their dispute 
through the DRS. If the parties cannot achieve 
resolution through ICM or mediation, the Small 
Business Commissioner may provide a party with 
a certificate to enable them to apply to the State 
Administrative Tribunal (SAT) to have the dispute 
formally determined.

This year a total of 379 disputes were referred to 
the DRS team for ICM and 45 cases were carried 
over from 2017-18. Across these 424 cases, 83  
per cent of commercial tenancy and 98 per cent  
of non commercial tenancy disputes were 
finalised* by case managers, with an estimated 
value of $28 million (based on client estimations).

As at 30 June 2019, 39 cases remained active and 
will be finalised during the next financial year.

This year, 44 per cent of cases finalised related 
to commercial tenancy matters and DRS case 
managers noticed a higher proportion of disputes 
involving outgoings and strata levies, early 
termination of leases, obligations arising from 
terminated leases (such as make-good obligations 
and return of bond/bank guarantees) and market 
rent reviews.

The remaining cases involved general business-
to-business and business-to-government disputes 
and included issues regarding contractual and 
warranty obligations, and refunds for defective 
products and services under the Australian 
Consumer Law.

A total of 37 disputes were referred to mediation 
(excluding farm debt mediations) and resolution 
was achieved in 73 per cent of these cases 

(including two disputes carried over from the 
previous year), resulting in costly litigation being 
avoided. The value of disputes successfully 
resolved through the SBDC mediation process this 
year was conservatively estimated at $2.4 million.

Thirty certificates were issued by the Small 
Business Commissioner to parties who intended 
to apply to the SAT for determination of their 
commercial tenancy related dispute.

* Cases are referred to as ‘finalised’ when they have 
been closed. They may be finalised for a number of 
reasons, including the dispute being resolved, one 
or more parties no longer wanting to proceed, or 
the matter being taken to court.

Farm Debt Mediation Scheme

The Farm Debt Mediation Scheme (FDMS) is 
in its fourth year of operation and provides an 
opportunity for farmers or pastoralists and their 
financial institution to meet face-to-face to resolve 
commercial debt disputes through the DRS.

The confidential FDMS relies on the voluntary 
participation of parties and is a joint project 
between the SBDC and the Rural Business 
Development Corporation. It is partially funded 
by the Department of Primary Industries and 
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32 Overview of agency Executive summary Agency performance Disclosures & legal compliance Significant issues AppendixAgency performance



Regional Development through a memorandum 
of understanding.

Commercial farm debt disputes are complex,  
as there is often an intergenerational link to the 
land through the agribusiness and family home. 
Families often have a deep emotional connection 
to their home that has spanned generations, 
creating an environment where the stakes and 
stress levels are high. 

While mediation is a focus, ICM in preparing 
agribusinesses to consider workable options  
based on their needs and interests is an integral 
part of the success of the scheme. The SBDC 
also has an ongoing relationship with the 
Rural Financial Counselling Service to assist 
agribusinesses on-site with specialist expertise.

During the year, nine applications were referred to 
the SBDC under the FDMS. Two cases proceeded 
to mediation and were successfully resolved with 
an estimated value of $1.9 million and a further 
three cases, with an estimated total value of  
$2.6 million, were finalised. The remainder are 
either having mediations arranged in the next 
financial year or are negotiating directly with 
financial institutions to reach an agreement.

John Curtin Law Clinic and pro-bono  
legal services 

Sharing a common interest in improving justice  
for the small business sector by improving access 
to legal advice, the SBDC continues its affiliation 
with the John Curtin Law Clinic, under a 
memorandum of understanding with the  
Curtin University Law School.

The John Curtin Law Clinic opened in early 2017 
and provides free legal services to eligible WA 
small businesses in a clinical legal education 
environment. Small business clients can arrange  
an appointment with final-year law students 
to assist them by carrying out legal research, 
identifying legal options, and preparing court 
documentation and referrals, all under the 
supervision of qualified lawyers. All student  
advice is reviewed by a qualified lawyer holding  
a current practising certificate.

To complement their professional skills, the  
SBDC regularly meets final-year law students  
and provides an introduction to its services, 
focusing on contemporary issues encountered  
by small businesses.

Small business clients are also referred to other 
pro-bono or low cost providers, including Law 

Access, Law Society, Subiaco Justice Centre, Legal 
Aid WA and Citizens Advice Bureau.

During 2018-19, 26 small business clients were 
referred by the SBDC and assisted by the John 
Curtin Law Clinic.

Listening and responding to small business 
The SBDC’s role includes responding to the current 
concerns of small business clients, while also 
preparing for the issues that will affect the sector 
in the future. We use this insight to assess the 
readiness of existing services to meet these new 
challenges and ensure support can be delivered  
to clients via the most effective channels.

During 2018-19, we commenced development  
of new channels and improvements to existing 
ones, through initiatives such as ‘click to chat’.  
This technology will provide an easier, more direct 
means for clients to reach SBDC business advisers. 
A project to create instructional videos on the 
essential steps to starting a business was also 
advanced this year.

Undertaking regular online surveys, along  
with a commitment to capture significant  
client interaction in our client record  
management database, created a significant 
volume of data and intelligence about the sector. 

Activity reports Small Business Development Corporation  
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Interagency workshop supporting 
construction projects

This has been used to influence change by other 
government agencies and contributed to SBDC 
policy submissions. For example, insight shared 
with the ACCC resulted in an investigation and 
successful prosecution, while case studies shaped 
submissions on a variety of topics. SBDC staff 
also provided input to national groups, such as 
the National Business Simplification Initiative, 
the Australian Business Licence and Information 
Service Management Group and the Australian 
Scam Awareness Network to promote the needs  
of small business operators.

Members of the SBDC team have also participated 
in judging for a number of award programs 
including Innovator of the Year, the Regional New 
Industries Fund and the Telstra Business Awards.

Small Business Friendly Local  
Government (SBFLG) initiative
The SBFLG initiative was launched in August 2016 
as a method of recognising better practice local 
governments that are actively supporting their 
local small business community, and to encourage 
other local governments to provide similar support 
for the benefit of their local economies.

To demonstrate their commitment to being small 
business friendly, local government chief executive 

officers and mayors sign up to the SBFLG charter. 
The charter sets out the minimum commitments 
that need to be made by the local government 
to support their local small business community. 
This includes paying small business suppliers on 
time, improving communication and consultation 
with small business stakeholders and their 
representatives, and having a dispute resolution 
process in place. Local governments are also 
required to introduce three other initiatives of their 
choosing to improve the operating environment 
for small businesses in their area.

As at 30 June 2019, 33 metropolitan and regional 
local governments around the state were 
participating in the SBFLG initiative. This means 
that almost 57 per cent of all small businesses in 
WA now operate within a ‘small business friendly’ 
local government area.

Small Business Friendly Projects (SBFP) 

The SBFP initiative, formally launched by the 
Minister for Small Business on 22 August 2018, 
aims to minimise the effect that construction 
work undertaken by state and local government 
works agencies has on local small businesses. 
Government infrastructure and works projects 
can have significant financial and non-financial 
impacts on neighbouring small businesses, 

Activity reports Small Business Development Corporation  
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Activity reports
Case study

Vinyl enthusiast James Sillitoe’s business, Sillitoe Audio Technology, 
manufactures disc recording equipment for the production of vinyl records.

James turned to the SBDC for advice on amicably 
dissolving a previous business partnership and to 
negotiate a joint venture with a large marketing  
and distribution company in the United States.

“The SBDC advisory service is very valuable. I was surprised that a free 
business advisory service of this quality exists!

Thanks to the advice of our SBDC adviser, we now have a memorandum 
of understanding from a US marketing and distribution company and are 
finalising research and development into our first consumer-level product, 
and securing distribution throughout the US, Canada, South America  
and Europe.

We continue to use the service and it’s fantastic to have access to such a 
friendly, down-to-earth, straight-talking and knowledgeable business adviser.”

James Sillitoe   Sillitoe Audio Technology, Osborne Park
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including a loss in turnover, reduction in custom 
and disruption to deliveries.

To help minimise disruption, the SBDC developed 
best practice guidelines and online tools to assist 
State Government agencies to better engage with 
affected businesses. Separate guidance material 
was also produced to support local governments 
and small business owners.

Consultation was undertaken during the year 
with State Government works agencies and 
local governments relating to current practices 
associated with infrastructure projects, and to 
discuss potential initiatives to minimise the 
impact on neighbouring small businesses. 
This included collaborating with LandCorp 
to minimise the impact of its Subiaco East 
Redevelopment project and meeting with the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA) 
about implementing the use of the guidelines 
in future MRA projects. The City of Canning also 
used the guide when developing its community 
engagement strategy for its $70 million city  
centre redevelopment.

The SBDC also helped facilitate a workshop with 
a range of State Government works agencies and 
government trading enterprises undertaking 
construction and maintenance infrastructure 

projects. Around 40 representatives from a number 
of agencies attended and provided insights into 
small business engagement and feedback on  
the guidelines.

The Small Business Friendly Approvals  
(SBFA) pilot project

Building on the work of the SBFLG initiative, 
the SBFA project aims to work closely with 
participating local governments to fast track the 
reform of their approvals processes.

A pilot project was launched at the end of the 
year involving the Cities of Canning and Stirling. 
They were selected due to the number of small 
businesses within their boundaries, the size of 
the local economies and their active participation 
in the SBFLG initiative. The project will result in 
the development of guidance material for local 
governments to review and reform their own  
small business approval processes.

Phase one with the City of Canning was 
completed, with the small business customer 
journey mapped and opportunities identified 
to improve processes and develop reform ideas 
around the themes of better communication, 
smarter technology, simpler processes and  
faster turnarounds.

Activity reports

Working with staff at 
the City of Canning
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Activity reports

Policy and advocacy
The SBDC works to influence the development 
and implementation of policies and initiatives 
across government that support the growth of  
the small business sector for the benefit of the 
state’s economy.

The core activities underpinning the agency’s 
policy and advocacy work are:

• developing and reviewing small business 
policies and initiatives at all levels of 
government

• making submissions to regulatory reviews, 
including those related to:

 – improving payments to construction 
industry subcontractors

 – procurement reform and increasing  
small business opportunities to supply  
to government

 – faster payment times to small  
business suppliers

 – employment arrangements under the state 
industrial relations system

 – addressing issues impacting the  
franchising industry.

• assessing and commenting on the impact  
of regulatory proposals raised through the 
State Government’s Better Regulation Unit

• representing small business interests on 
government committees and working groups

• undertaking liaison and consultation with  
the business community and advocating  
to government

• providing advice to the Minister for Small 
Business on, among other issues: 

 – improving support for subcontractors in the 
construction industry

 – business disruption caused by government 
construction projects

 – the Parliamentary review of the Franchising 
Code of Conduct

 – payment terms, times and practices 
impacting on small businesses

 – impact of payroll tax

 – the economic contribution of small 
businesses to the WA economy

 – the impact on small business operators of 
on-demand transport reforms

 – access to skilled workers

 – retailing concerns and the principles and 
practices involved in place activation

 – proposed changes to the Australian Domain 
Name System.

The SBDC also provided advice to support 
the Minister when attending small business 
community forums and events during the year, 
including with the:

• Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry 
WA (RCCIWA) and individual chambers

• Perth USAsia Centre

• Australian Retailers Association

• Australian Lottery and Newsagents  
Association (ALNA).

Reviews, submissions and consultations

An important function of the SBDC is to monitor 
and review policy and regulatory reforms and 
proposed amendments to legislation that affect 
small business. This includes liaising with state and 
federal government agencies and small business 
stakeholders to ensure that the negative impacts 
of policy and regulatory decisions are understood 
and addressed.

The SBDC regularly consults with key small 
business representative groups, including 
ALNA and RCCIWA, and regulators such as the 
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and 
Safety (DMIRS), the Australian Competition and 
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Activity reports

Consumer Commission (ACCC) and the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) to 
keep informed of issues and emerging trends.

By providing formal submissions or liaising  
directly with all levels of government, the 
SBDC ensures the interests of the state’s small 
businesses are considered in proposed legislative 
amendments, new regulations and changes to 
government policies.

During the year, the SBDC contributed to a 
number of significant reviews and regulatory 
proposals at federal and state levels, including the:

• industry advisory group established by the 
State Government to review security of 
payments to subcontractors in WA’s building 
and construction industry

• inter-agency working group on security of 
payment reform

• payment times federal reporting framework

• whole-of-government procurement  
reform framework

• ministerial review of the state industrial 
relations system

• amendments to the Australian Consumer Law

• review of unfair contract term protections for 
small business

• federal parliamentary inquiry into the 
operation and effectiveness of the Franchising 
Code of Conduct

• review of the Local Government Act 1995

• review of the Food and Grocery Code of Conduct

• Modernising Business Registers Program 
review of registry fees

• reforms to combat illegal phoenix activity

• Economic Regulation Authority’s review of 
business licensing in WA

• Board of Taxation review of small business  
tax concessions

• telecommunications industry Consumer 
Safeguards Review

• reform of plumbing regulation in WA

• expert review of Australia’s vocational 
education and training system

• independent review of WA’s planning system

• reauthorisation for the distribution of music 
licensing in Australia.

Regulatory gatekeeping

Managed by the Better Regulation Unit (BRU) 
of the Department of Treasury, the Regulatory 
Impact Assessment (RIA) program is a two stage 
process to review proposals for new or amended 
regulation in WA.

All regulatory proposals at the state level must 
include a Preliminary Impact Assessment (PIA)  
to identify potential impacts on small businesses, 
the economy and consumers. If the impact is 
significant, a more thorough Regulatory Impact 
Statement (RIS) is undertaken by the  
regulating authority.

The SBDC plays an important role by reviewing 
PIAs and RISs and providing feedback from a 
small business perspective to the BRU and/or 
sponsoring agency.

During 2018-19, the SBDC reviewed 17 PIAs  
and two RISs from 11 government agencies. The 
feedback on PIAs included general support with 
no objections; noting of a lack of consultation of 
small businesses; and noting of potential impacts 
on small businesses. Feedback on the RISs argued 
for a reduction in licensing requirements and 
compliance burdens on the plumbing and  
fitness industries.
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Influencing regulatory reform

The SBDC continues to focus on identifying and 
reducing unnecessary compliance burdens on 
small business through its advocacy, to introduce 
risk-based regulatory frameworks and red tape 
reduction. This includes providing submissions 
and feedback to legislative reviews and national 
reforms and involvement in working groups.

During the year, the SBDC provided input into 
the whole-of-government procurement reform 
process. To make government procurement more 
small business friendly, the SBDC advocated to 
improve access to government purchasing and 
increasing the capacity of small businesses to win 
tender bids.

The SBDC also worked with the new Streamline 
WA initiative, introduced to encourage more 
state investment by improving how government 
interacts with private and community sectors 
and creating better ways of applying regulation. 
Streamline WA employs a whole-of-sector 
approach to develop best practice for making and 
applying regulation. The SBDC’s input resulted in a 
small business ‘lens’ being applied across all areas 
of interest, rather than a separate focus on small 
business reforms.

Security of payments in the  
construction industry

Since conducting the Construction Subcontractor 
Investigation into non-payment of subcontractors 
for a defined selection of construction projects in 
2013, the SBDC has maintained a particular focus 
on how best to respond to behaviours that lead to 
delayed or non-payment of subcontractors.

The security of payments on government and 
non-government construction projects remains 
an issue affecting small business subcontractors, 
their employees and suppliers, and consequently 
their families and local communities. The SBDC 
is committed to supporting subcontractors with 
payment disputes and improving conduct in the 
industry supply chain by advocating on behalf of 
small businesses on government and industry-led 
reform initiatives.

The SBDC provided insights to two advisory 
groups established by the State Government  
to improve protections for subcontractors about 
proposals that could help or hinder  
small businesses.

In December 2018, the State Government 
announced an enhanced role for the Small 
Business Commissioner through the establishment 
of a unit at the SBDC to support subcontractors 

and investigate payment disputes. The SBDC 
consequently introduced into the Parliament 
amendments to the SBDC Act to provide the 
Commissioner with enhanced powers to 
investigate complaints and improve payment 
outcomes in the construction industry.

Following the passage of the amendment bill, 
a dedicated unit will be established within the 
SBDC to investigate complaints of non-payment 
and provide direct support to subcontractors with 
security of payment issues.

Communications and marketing
The SBDC uses a range of online and offline 
channels to engage with its clients and 
stakeholders. The channels are used to raise 
awareness of the small business sector and 
its value to the state’s economy, disseminate 
information relevant to small business operators 
and promote the SBDC’s support services for small 
business owners and operators.

A broad range of communication activities are 
employed, including public relations, marketing, 
advertising, social media, speaking opportunities, 
content marketing and distributing news stories to 
local, state and interstate media.
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Media and public relations

The SBDC used a variety of earned media to 
promote the agency’s services and distribute 
information relevant to the small business sector. 
Over the past year, the SBDC has promoted 
a range of topics and activities via releases 
distributed to statewide print and electronic 
media. This included the SBDC blog, e-news, social 
media platforms and articles written for business 
and industry magazines.

In 2018-19, key topics for earned media and public 
relations coverage included small business advice 
on taxation, employing staff, risk management, 
social media, marketing, commercial tenancy and 
conducting business online, as well as promoting 
the SBDC’s general advisory and dispute  
resolution services.

Articles created by the SBDC were featured in a 
number of publications, including Master Builder 
Magazine, The Overflow (Irrigation Australia), Master 
Plumber, The Grower (Vegetables WA), Perth Cool 
magazine and InTouch (Lotterywest). 

Each month, SBDC staff were interviewed on the 
monthly RTRFM radio show, Taking Care of Business, 
covering a diverse range of topics to assist small 
businesses, including the Small Business Friendly 
Local Governments initiative, online marketing, 

employing people, running a home-based 
business, and finding the right business licences. 
Regular fortnightly columns ‘From the Small 
Business Commissioner’ were distributed to  
11 titles across the Community News Group. Topics 
covered in these articles included the importance 
of business planning, eight steps to starting a 
business, financial management, managing your 
wellbeing, the introduction of Single Touch Payroll, 
and the benefits of correct invoicing.

The SBDC has access to networks of small business 
owners and organisations, and works closely with 
other government agencies to raise awareness 
of legislation and regulations that affect small 
businesses. During 2018-19, the SBDC collaborated 
with the Australian Tourism Export Council; ACCC; 
ATO; Department of Mines, Industry Regulation 
and Safety; Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science 
and Innovation; Curtin University; ASIC; the 
Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise 
Ombudsman; and the Fair Work Ombudsman  
to update the small business sector on  
important developments.

The SBDC is recognised as a reliable source of 
small business information and statistics, and is 
a ready source of introductions for journalists 
seeking successful small business owners. Links to 

the SBDC website are regularly featured in articles 
created by third parties. The SBDC also generates 
media releases, covering amongst other topics: 

• combatting illegal phoenixing activity

• minimising disruption to small businesses 
resulting from construction works (Small 
Business Friendly Projects initiative)

• regional businesses benefiting from the 
Business Local advisory service

• payment times – one of the biggest causes  
of disputes

• the introduction of Single Touch Payroll.

Speaking opportunities at small business focused 
events were leveraged by the Minister for Small 
Business and the Commissioner throughout the 
year. Supporting speeches and briefing notes were 
developed by the Communications and Marketing 
team to promote the significance of the small 
business sector and the services of the SBDC.

Sponsorship of regional small business award 
programs remained an ongoing program for  
the agency. 
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Digital communications

As audiences increasingly seek information 
through online channels, the agency has placed 
a greater focus on digital communications. The 
SBDC produces a monthly e-newsletter reporting 
on agency projects and achievements, legislative 
changes, and tips and hints for small business 
owners. The publication is delivered to around 
6,000 subscribers.

Stakeholder engagement through the SBDC’s 
Facebook page continued to grow. The number  
of people ‘liking’ the page increased by almost  
13 per cent compared to the previous year, with 
229 posts made to the page which were viewed 
more than 1.27 million times.

The Facebook group ‘I’m a small business owner in 
Western Australia’ continued to provide a highly 
active virtual networking space for small business 
operators. It is an environment where people 
interested in small business can feel comfortable 
in sharing and connecting with each other. The 
group members actively participate in discussions 
and have created a self-moderating online 
community. There is a consistently high level of 
engagement, with new discussions and comment 
threads posted every day.

The group is monitored in and out of office 
hours by members of the Communications 
and Marketing team to ensure adherence to 
the group’s guidelines and the swift removal of 
gratuitous advertising. Membership has grown by 
more than 20 per cent year on year.

Digital advertising across a range of platforms 
continued to drive engagement, particularly in 
promoting the agency’s business advisory services 
and workshops. This included an increased level 
of activity on YouTube and LinkedIn as well as the 
launch of a new Instagram account.

SBDC website

The website remains a popular source of 
information about starting and operating a small 
business in WA. Traffic and engagement levels 
have remained steady following an exponential 
growth period during the previous 12 months. The 
SBDC Blog continues to provide users with access 
to practical and timely advice to help them start or 
run a business and was named as one of the best 
small business blogs in Australia by the Feedspot 
website for the second consecutive year.

Additional website enhancement work has 
continued during the year as well as ongoing  
work to improve search engine optimisation.

Activity reports Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19

41 Overview of agency Executive summary Agency performance Disclosures & legal compliance Significant issues AppendixAgency performance



Corporate governance

Governance disclosures

Enabling legislation

The SBDC Act makes provision for the 
establishment of the SBDC and Small Business 
Commissioner to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and assist the establishment, development and 
carrying on of small business in the state and 
provide dispute resolution services, and  
for incidental and other purposes. 

SBDC Board

Steven Dobson

Steven Dobson initially joined the Board in 
September 2012 and was appointed to the 
positon of Chair in December 2018. Mr Dobson  
is a director of Dobson Financial Planning, a family 
owned small business. He was previously a police 
officer with the Western Australia Police Force.

Mr Dobson is a trustee director of the Association 
of Financial Advisers Investment Fund, member 
of the ASIC Financial Advisers Consultative Panel, 
President of Bull Creek Leeming Junior Football 
Club and a Justice of the Peace. Mr Dobson 
previously served on the boards of Perth NRM,  
Kids are Kids and Meritum Financial Group 
Advisory Board.

Mr Dobson holds a Master of Business 
Administration from Murdoch University, a 
Bachelor of Business (Financial Planning) from 
RMIT, and is a graduate member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Grant Cucel

Grant Cucel was appointed to the Board in 
October 2017. Mr Cucel is self-employed, Pilbara 
born and raised and resides in Karratha. He has 
an extensive business background having run his 
own recruitment business for 10 years. Mr Cucel 
has a Bachelor of Business from Curtin University  
of Technology.

He was the 2012 inductee into the Western 
Australian Regional Small Business Hall of Fame 
and was recognised as the 2013 City of Karratha 
Citizen of the Year. For nine years, he held the role 
of Chair of the Small Business Centre West Pilbara 
and strongly advocated for small and medium 
enterprises in regional WA.

Having sold his recruitment business to a publicly 
listed company, Mr Cucel now has a strong focus 
on assisting a cross-section of organisations in a 
voluntary capacity, as well as his role as Deputy 
Mayor at the City of Karratha.

Sophie Dwyer

Sophie Dwyer was appointed to the Board in 
August 2017. In July 2018, Ms Dwyer joined GHD 
Advisory after selling the small business she had 
owned and run for 13 years. She has extensive 
experience in the finance and agribusiness sectors 
and is an elected member of the City of Joondalup.

Ms Dwyer is a graduate member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. She also holds 
a Master of Business Administration from Curtin 
University and a Bachelor of Science (Horticulture) 
with Honours from the University of Western 
Australia. Ms Dwyer is a member of a number of 
company and not-for-profit boards.

Nicolle Jenkins

Nicolle Jenkins was appointed to the Board in 
December 2015. Ms Jenkins established her 
own business in 2005 called The Hub Marketing 
Communications, and works across a variety of 
industries Australia-wide.

Ms Jenkins is co-founder of Small Business Matters, 
a small business movement tasked to celebrate 
entrepreneurship and small business. She is also 
Vice President of the Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry WA and a Director of the Australian 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry.
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Ms Jenkins was awarded the National Certified 
Practising Marketer of the Year in 2016 as a Fellow 
of the Australian Marketing Institute and has won 
numerous national and state marketing awards. 
She was a 40 Under 40 award winner (2012),  
a finalist in the 2011 Telstra Business Awards and  
a finalist in the 2011 Telstra Business Woman of  
the Year awards.

Anthony Masi

Anthony Masi was appointed to the Board in April 
2014. Mr Masi is a pharmacist and has owned and 
operated successful small businesses in regional 
WA since 1991. These include a camera store, a 
health food shop, an IGA grocery store and two 
pharmacies. He is a former board member of 
Kimberley Pilbara Medicare Local and is a Branch 
Committee Member of the Pharmacy Guild of 
Australia (WA Branch). 

Mr Masi is also an active member of the Kyle 
Andrews Foundation, a Broome-based children’s 
cancer charity. He was Chair from 2008-2010 and  
is currently the organisation’s treasurer.

Colette McEntee

Colette McEntee was appointed to the Board in 
December 2018. Ms McEntee commenced her 
career as a theatre manager in London’s West End 
before arriving in Australia as a backpacker in 2004. 
She is now the creative director/owner of Maker + 
Co, a business and creative industries incubator in 
the South West, breaking new ground in the WA 
innovation ecosystem.

Ms McEntee is passionate about supporting a  
new wave of Aboriginal entrepreneurs and is 
committed to exploring new technology as a  
tool to increase community engagement with 
Aboriginal culture and language. She has owned 
and operated several successful small businesses 
in regional WA and is involved in a voluntary 
capacity on a range of not-for-profit and 
government committees, including the South 
Regional TAFE Aboriginal Advisory Committee.

Ms McEntee is a winner of multiple business 
awards, including the overall best business at the 
Karratha and Districts Business Excellence awards 
in two consecutive years. She holds a Bachelor of 
Arts (Honours) in Drama from the University of 
Wales, and is a Fellow of Leadership WA.

David Eaton (ex officio)

David Eaton was appointed WA’s first Small 
Business Commissioner in December 2011. In his 
dual role as Chief Executive Officer of the SBDC, he 
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the 
agency, including its dispute resolution service.

The Commissioner also provides advice on policy 
and regulatory matters affecting the small business 
sector, to all tiers of government and in particular 
to the Minister for Small Business. 

Mr Eaton has extensive business management 
experience, both as a small business owner and  
in senior executive positions in WA and Victoria.  
He holds a Master in Business Administration  
from the University of Western Australia, is a 
Graduate Member of the Australian Institute  
of Company Directors and a member of the  
Curtin Law School Advisory Board.
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Functions of the Board

As the SBDC’s governing body, the Board has 
responsibility for performing the functions set  
out in the SBDC Act. The SBDC Board has four 
strategic roles:

• setting the direction of the agency

• determination of standards

• coordination of planning, policies, and 
decision-making framework

• acting in an advisory capacity to the Minister, 
the government and other agencies. 

Operational roles of the Board include:

• setting strategies

• focusing on client service and customer needs

• striving for organisational best practice and 
compliance with standards

• delegation of operational decision-making to 
officers within the SBDC.

Corporate governance

Members current as at 30 June 2019

Terms of appointment/meetings attended

Name
Initially  

appointed
Term  

expires
2018-19 meetings 

attended1

Mr Grant Cucel 28/08/2017 30/06/2021 10

Mr Steven Dobson 10/09/2012 30/11/2021 9

Ms Sophie Dwyer 28/08/2017 30/06/2021 8

Ms Nicolle Jenkins 07/12/2015 30/11/2020 8

Mr Anthony Masi 07/04/2014 30/06/2020 10

Ms Colette McEntee2 26/11/2018 30/11/2020 3

Vacant3

Mr David Eaton (ex officio) 10

1. A total of 10 meetings were held during the 2018-19 reporting period
2. Appointed 26/11/2018 - attended first meeting 20/02/19
3. Vacant position – to be filled from 1 July 2019
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross actual 

remuneration ($)

Chair Mr Steven Dobson Annual Full year 16,933.00

Member Mr Grant Cucel Annual Full year 11,067.12

Member Ms Sophie Dwyer Annual Full year 9,105.72

Member Ms Nicolle Jenkins Annual Full year 9,105.72

Member Mr Anthony Masi Annual Full year 9,105.72

Member Ms Colette McEntee Annual Part year 5,906.35

Chair Ms Caterina (Kitty) 
Prodonovich4

Annual Part year 9,696.39

Member Ms Caroline (Ra) 
Stewart5

Annual Part year 3,887.44

4. Term expired 30/11/18
5. Term expired 30/11/18

Corporate governance

Corporate resources
The Corporate Resources team assists the  
SBDC to reach its objectives and goals through:

• financial management including budgeting 
and accounting services

• human resource management

• information communications  
technology management

• records and information management services

• facilities management including assets, fleet, 
accommodation and procurement

• general administration.

Other financial disclosures

Internal audit

The SBDC outsources its internal audit function 
which focuses on the effectiveness of the key 
processes and controls to meet the compliance 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 
2006 and applicable Treasurer’s Instructions. The 
audit provides assurance to the SBDC Board and 
management in relation to the quality, reliability, 
adequacy and integrity of the systems of internal 
control, compliance and reporting.
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Governance disclosures

Pricing policies

The SBDC collects the following fees and charges:

• DRS (mediation) fees; set at $125 per party in 
dispute. This represents partial cost recovery for 
government. The total cost of each mediation 
session is generally $1,000 with the SBDC 
subsidising the difference.

• Business Migration State Nomination 
application fees; set at $750 for both 
provisional and permanent business visas. 
The fees represent partial cost recovery for the 
processing of applications under the Business 
Innovation and Investment visa program.

• Business workshop fees; with the exception of  
the free ‘Starting a Business’ workshop, are set 
at $50 per participant.

The Corporation’s fees and charges are reviewed 
annually as part of the budget process.

Our people

Workforce development

The SBDC employs a performance development 
plan (PDP) to achieve workforce development 
and foster two-way communication between 
managers and staff. Individual PDP sessions 

between managers and team members ideally 
lead to personal and professional goals being 
more specific and measurable, resulting in staff 
making a more positive contribution to the agency 
and the clients served.

Development opportunities, including  
expressions of interest to participate in learning 
and development programs, knowledge sharing 
and acting opportunities, continue to be used 
to cover short-term vacancies and to assist with 
longer term succession planning.

Leadership development remains a key focus for 
the SBDC, including the continued development 
of current leaders as well as contributing to the 
development of potential future leaders.

Staffing summary – as at June 2019

Employee profile 2018-19

Permanent full-time 37

Permanent part-time 15

Fixed term contract 3

Total 55

Occupational health and safety (OHS) and 
injury management

The SBDC is committed to ensuring operational 
activities are carried out with full regard for the 
health, safety and welfare of employees, 
contractors and the public. The agency’s 
management team supports this through 
participation in training programs and by 
communicating OHS matters via the intranet.  
OHS is a standard agenda item at all executive  
and all-of-agency meetings and staff are 
encouraged to raise any issues.

The agency recognises that consultation, 
communication and cooperation between 
managers and employees is essential to 
maintaining a safe and healthy workforce.

The agency’s OHS management system  
outlines when it is necessary to consult with 
employees, including:

• investigating incidents

• deciding on measures to control risks

• reviewing the effectiveness of controls

• changing work practices and procedures

• planning new work or work processes.
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Indicator

Actual results Results against target

2016-17 2018-19 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 n/a

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) 0 0 0 or 10% reduction on previous year Maintained zero result

Lost time injury/disease severity rate 0 0 0 or 10% reduction on previous year Maintained zero result

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks No injured 
workers

No injured 
workers

100% No injured workers

(ii) within 26 weeks No injured 
workers

No injured 
workers

100% No injured workers

Percentage of managers trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury management responsibilities

80% 85% Greater than or equal to 80% Target met
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Disclosures and legal compliance
Independent auditor’s report

To the Parliament of Western Australia  
Small Business Development Corporation

Report on the Financial Statements

Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of the 
Small Business Development Corporation which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 
30 June 2019, the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then  
ended, and Notes comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are 
based on proper accounts and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the operating results and 
cash flows of the Small Business Development 
Corporation for the year ended 30 June 2019 and 
the financial position at the end of that period. 
They are in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
the Treasurer's Instructions .

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of my report. I am independent 
of the Corporation in accordance with the 
Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I 
have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Responsibility of the Board for the  
Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for keeping proper 
accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer's Instructions, and for such internal 
control as the Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board 
is responsible for assessing the agency's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Western Australian Government has 
made policy or funding decisions affecting the 
continued existence of the Corporation.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements . The objectives of my audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
the financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the agency's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
Board's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the agency's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my auditor's report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
my opinion. My conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
auditor's report.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit.

Report on Controls

Opinion

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance 
engagement on the design and implementation 
of controls exercised by the Small Business 
Development Corporation. The controls exercised 
by the Corporation are those policies and 
procedures established by the Board to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, 
and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions (the overall 
control objectives).

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the 
matters outlined in this report.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls 
exercised by the Small Business Development 
Corporation are sufficiently adequate to provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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The Board's Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for designing, 
implementing and maintaining controls to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, 
and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer's 
Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General's Responsibilities

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006,  
my responsibility as an assurance practitioner 
is to express an opinion on the suitability of the 
design of the controls to achieve the overall 
control objectives and the implementation of the 
controls as designed. I conducted my engagement 
in accordance with Standard on Assurance 
Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements 
on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires 
that I comply with relevant ethical requirements 
and plan and perform my procedures to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether, in all material 
respects, the controls are suitably designed to 
achieve the overall control objectives and the 
controls, necessary to achieve the overall control 
objectives, were implemented as designed.

An assurance engagement to report on the 
design and implementation of controls involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence 
about the suitability of the design of controls to 
achieve the overall control objectives and the 
implementation of those controls. The procedures 
selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks that controls are not 
suitably designed or implemented as designed.  
My procedures included testing the 
implementation of those controls that I consider 
necessary to achieve the overall control objectives.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Limitations of Controls

Because of the inherent limitations of any internal 
control structure it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented 
as designed, once the controls are in operation, 
the overall control objectives may not be achieved 
so that fraud, error, or noncompliance with laws 
and regulations may occur and not be detected. 
Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation 
of the suitability of the design of controls to future 
periods is subject to the risk that the controls  
may become unsuitable because of changes  
in conditions.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators

Opinion

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance 
engagement on the key performance indicators 
of the Small Business Development Corporation 
for the year ended 30 June 2019. The key 
performance indicators are the key effectiveness 
indicators and the key efficiency indicators that 
provide performance information about achieving 
outcomes and delivering services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the  
key performance indicators of the Small 
Business Development Corporation are relevant 
and appropriate to assist users to assess the 
Corporation's performance and fairly represent 
indicated performance for the year ended  
30 June 2019.

The Board's Responsibility for the Key 
Performance Indicators

The Board is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the key performance indicators 
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions and for such 
internal control as the Board determines necessary 
to enable the preparation of key performance 
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indicators that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, 
the Board is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and 
appropriate having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 904  
Key Performance Indicators.

Auditor General's Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006,  
my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is 
to express an opinion on the key performance 
indicators. The objectives of my engagement are 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the agency's 
performance and whether the key performance 
indicators are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes my opinion. 

I conducted my engagement in accordance 
with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 
3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by 
the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board. That standard requires that I comply with 

relevant ethical requirements relating to  
assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing 
procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the key performance indicators. 
It also involves evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators 
against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer's 
Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and the efficiency of 
service delivery. The procedures selected depend 
on my judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the key 
performance indicators. In making these risk 
assessments I obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the engagement in order to 
design procedures that are appropriate in  
the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for  
my opinion.

My Independence and Quality Control 
Relating to the Reports on Controls and 
Key Performance Indicators
I have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and 

the relevant ethical requirements relating  
to assurance engagements. In accordance with 
ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits 
and Reviews of Financial Reports Other Financial 
Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, 
the Office of the Auditor General maintains a 
comprehensive system of quality control including 
documented policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with ethical requirements, professional 
standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic 
Publication of the Audited Financial 
Statements and Key Performance 
Indicators 
This auditor's report relates to the financial 
statements and key performance indicators of 
the Small Business Development Corporation 
for the year ended 30 June 2019 included on 
the Corporation's website. The Corporation's 
management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Corporation's website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Corporation's 
website. The auditor's report refers only to the 
financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have 
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been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements 
or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to 
the hard copy of the audited financial statements and 
key performance indicators to confirm the information 
contained in this website version of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators.

Don Cunninghame 

Assistant Auditor General Financial Audit  
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia  
Perth, Western Australia  
26 August 2019
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Certification of key performance indicators

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Small Business Development Corporation's performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the Small Business Development Corporation for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2019.

Steven Dobson

Chair

23 August 2019

David Eaton

Small Business Commissioner
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Key performance indicators

The SBDC operates under the broad high level 
government strategic goal “Future jobs and skills – 
grow and diversify the economy, create jobs and 
support skills development”.

To meet this goal, the SBDC’s mission is “to deliver 
and facilitate the provision of relevant, practical 
support to small businesses and foster the 
development of policy conducive to the  
growth of a thriving small business sector”. 

SBDC’s desired outcome and services that  
link with this government goal are shown in  
the table below.

In 2018-19, the SBDC achieved this desired 
outcome through:

The provision of specialised information,  
referral and business facilitation services for  
the effective development of enterprises in WA. 
This included access to justice for small businesses 
through the dispute resolution service (DRS). 

The following effectiveness and efficiency 
indicators have been developed to measure the 
SBDC’s performance.

Effectiveness indicator

The effectiveness of the SBDC in meeting its 
desired outcome is measured by client surveys  
of the following key stakeholder groups:

• small business owners - those already 
operating their own business 

• small business starters - those planning  
or contemplating operating a business  
in the future.

Government goal Desired outcome Services

Future Jobs and Skills:

Grow and diversify the economy, create jobs and 
support skills development.

Development of new and existing small business in 
Western Australia. 

Information, guidance, referral and business 
development services.
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Client opinions of the services provided  
by the SBDC 

The SBDC provides a range of small business 
services to those in business as well as those 
planning on starting or buying a business. (Refer 
to the Report on Operations for details of these 
services). The SBDC also provides core business 
facilitation services across the State through the 
provision of funding for the Business Local service. 
The effectiveness of small business services is 
measured by surveys of those clients who have 

1 The performance evaluation for 2018-19 where clients were contacted by telephone was undertaken by Advantage Communications and Marketing. Telephone surveys were undertaken 
with random selections of clients who had directly sought information and guidance during 2018-19. 728 client surveys were completed to give a maximum standard error ratio of + / - 
3.5% at the 95% confidence level. Overall, 85% of respondents contacted agreed to participate in the survey. The valid sample for each service area was as follows:

contacted the SBDC and the Business Local service 
during 2018-19.

The effectiveness indicator used to measure the 
SBDC’s performance is subject to regular review 
and, where necessary, is refined to reflect the 
services delivered to key client groups.

The measure reported below is based on two 
surveys conducted during 2018-19 of random 
samples of SBDC and Business Local service 
clients. The surveys have been carried out by an 

independent market research company to ensure 
maximum objectivity1. 

High customer satisfaction with services has 
been maintained over several years with the 
effectiveness indicator measured in 2018-19 
showing no statistically significant shifts at the  
95% confidence level in comparison with the 
previous four years.

Key performance indicators

Summary of clients surveyed as part of SBDC’s 2018-19 performance evaluation.

Business owners Business starters Total sample

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Clients - Direct advice

Small Business Services 202 211 209 62 61 60 264 272 269

Business Information Centre 80 80 71 122 125 131 202 205 202

Business Local service 157 152 183 93 103 74 250 255 257

Total 439 443 463 277 289 265 716 732 728
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Usefulness of the information or  
guidance provided

All clients surveyed were asked – “How would  
you rate the usefulness of the information/ guidance 
provided to you?” 95 per cent of survey participants 
rated the information/guidance provided as useful 
in 2018-19 including 65 per cent that indicated 
it was very useful and 30 per cent rating it as 
somewhat useful. Only 5 per cent of respondents 
felt the information or guidance was not useful. 
The target for 2018-19 was 93 per cent  
useful rating.

Key performance indicators
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Efficiency indicators

Efficiency indicators relate to the level of resource inputs required to produce the output (information, guidance, referral and business development services).

Four efficiency indicators are measured. The results for each indicator together with the target for 2018-19 and comparatives from the previous four years are as below:

Efficiency indicators 2018-19 target 2018-19 actual 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15

Cost of direct client contacts 
Number of direct client contacts2

 $33.63 $7,556,749 
215,678

$35.04 $39.76 $39.89 $20.59 $19.24

Cost of indirect client contacts 
Number of indirect client contacts3

 $5.81 $256,390 
53,541

$4.79 $6.66 $5.86 $3.05 $2.44

Cost of Business Local service4 
Number of Business Local service client contacts

$137.83 $3,629,236 
25,846

$140.42 $139.89 $145.84 $139.47 $119.40

Cost of Policy Advice5 $1,290,541 $1,008,145 $963,562 $1,202,180 $1,184,508 $1,182,935

The target for 2018-19 is as published in the 2018-19 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 1) page 224. 

2 Direct client contacts have contacted the SBDC for guidance or information either by a personal visit, by telephone, have attended a SBDC workshop, downloaded a licence pack from 
the Business Licence Finder, have visited SBDC websites for four minutes or more or have had a direct engagement through the SBDC Facebook page or group. The reduction in the cost  
of direct client contacts against the 2017-18 result is predominantly due to an increase in the number of client engagements through website visits. The increased cost in comparison to 
the 2018-19 target is due to additional expenses associated with the transfer of The Building and Construction Code Monitoring Unit. 

3 Indirect client contacts are exposed to a range of advisory, information, referral and business services that would impact on their growth and business development. It includes those 
that have attended expos, forums or award functions that the SBDC has organised, has been the major sponsor where the focus has been on business development, or where an SBDC 
representative has given an address on small business matters. Indirect client contacts also include website visits of between two and four minutes. The reduction in the cost of indirect 
client contacts against the 2017-18 result and the target for 2018-19 is due mainly to an increase in the number of website visits. 

4 Business Local service client contacts. There has been a minor increase in cost per Business Local service client contact in comparison to the result achieved in 2017-18 and the target  
for 2018-19, due mainly to a reduction in the number of client sessions delivered across the program. 

5 Policy advice includes policy and regulatory submissions, industry liaison, small business sector advocacy, investigative research and ministerial correspondence. The cost of policy 
advice includes salaries and related staffing costs and all other direct costs associated with the Policy and Advocacy section of the SBDC, together with a notional allocation of corporate 
overheads. The increase in the cost of policy advice against the result achieved in 2017-18 is due to additional costs associated with the implementation of a number of Small Business 
Friendly initiatives. The variation against the target for 2018-19 is due mainly to reduced salary costs with staff deployed against other programs. 
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Certification of financial 
statements for the reporting 
period ended 30 June 2019

The accompanying financial statements of the  
Small Business Development Corporation have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts 
and records to present fairly the financial transactions 
for the reporting period ended 30 June 2019 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2019.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render the particulars 
included within the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

Steven Dobson 
Chair 

23 August 2019

David Eaton 
Small Business Commissioner 

Ray Buttsworth  
Chief Finance Officer
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Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense  2.1  6,197,883  6,340,950 
Supplies and services  2.3  5,876,685  3,290,388 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  4.1,4.2  137,715  115,763 
Communications expense  101,802  89,130 
Maintenance expense  61,474  49,375 
Grants and subsidies  2.2  0  3,668,065 
Other expenses  2.3  74,961  78,589 

Total cost of services  12,450,520  13,632,260 
Income
Revenue

User charges and fees  3.2  411,182  390,182 
Grants and contributions  3.3  105,273  0 
Interest revenue  3.4  57,464  46,155 
Other revenue  3.5  84,397  75,954 

Total revenue  658,316  512,291 
Total income other than income from  
State Government  658,316  512,291 
NET COST OF SERVICES  11,792,204  13,119,969 
Income from State Government 3.1

Service appropriation  12,611,000  10,751,000 
Services received free of charge  123,244  108,281 
Royalties for Regions Fund  0  224,000 

Total income from State Government  12,734,244  11,083,281 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  942,040 (2,036,688)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  942,040 (2,036,688)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of  
Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial statements
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Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  6.1  3,026,948  2,036,055 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  6.1 0  24,507 
Receivables  5.1  256,120  109,368 
Amounts receivable for services  5.2  60,000  60,000 
Other current assets  5.3  455,040  374,829 

Total Current Assets  3,798,108  2,604,759 
Non-Current Assets

Amounts receivable for services  5.2  720,000  625,000 
Furniture, plant and equipment  4.1  135,903  36,487 
Intangible assets  4.2  124,426  180,744 

Total Non-Current Assets  980,329  842,231 
TOTAL ASSETS  4,778,437  3,446,990 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables  5.4  287,267  74,264 
Employee related provisions  2.1  1,197,709  1,103,086 
Other current liabilities  5.5 0  9,000 

Total Current Liabilities 1,484,976 1,186,350 
Non-Current Liabilities

Employee related provisions  2.1  292,955  262,174 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  292,955  262,174 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,777,931  1,448,524 
NET ASSETS  3,000,506  1,998,466 
EQUITY

Contributed equity  1,478,885  1,418,885 
Accumulated surplus  1,521,621  579,581 

TOTAL EQUITY  3,000,506  1,998,466 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Contributed 
equity 

$

Accumulated 
surplus/
(deficit) 

$

Total 
equity 

$

Balance at 1 July 2017  1,358,885  2,616,269  3,975,154 

Surplus/(deficit) 0 (2,036,688) (2,036,688)

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (2,036,688) (2,036,688)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  60,000 0  60,000 

Balance at 30 June 2018  1,418,885  579,581  1,998,466 

Balance at 1 July 2018  1,418,885  579,581  1,998,466 

Surplus/(deficit) 0  942,040  942,040 

Total comprehensive income for the period 0  942,040  942,040 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  60,000 0  60,000 

Balance at 30 June 2019  1,478,885  1,521,621  3,000,506 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial statements

Statement of  
Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  12,456,000  10,596,000 
Capital appropriation  60,000  60,000 
Holding account drawdown  60,000  109,000 
Royalties for Regions Fund  0  224,000 
Net cash provided by State Government  12,576,000  10,989,000 
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (6,076,858) (6,350,212)
Supplies and services (5,519,751) (3,336,740)
Communication expense (100,510) (89,079)
Maintenance expense (167,237) (32,393)
Grants and subsidies  0 (3,668,065)
GST payments on purchases (588,445) (706,433)
Other payments (85,868) (81,859)

Receipts
User charges and fees  411,182  390,182 
Grants and contributions  105,273  0 
Interest received  55,902  52,320 
GST receipts on sales  27,016  18,202 
GST receipts from taxation authority  436,899  682,609 
Other receipts  73,597  80,555 

Net cash used in operating activities (11,428,800) (13,040,913)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (180,814) (17,688)
Net cash used in investing activities (180,814) (17,688)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  966,386 (2,069,601)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  2,060,562  4,130,163 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.1  3,026,948  2,060,562 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes..

Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial statements
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1. Basis of preparation
The Corporation is a WA Government entity and is 
controlled by the State of Western Australia, which 
is the ultimate parent. The Corporation is a not-for-
profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and 
its principal activities have been included in the 
‘Overview’ which does not form part of these 
financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised 
for issue by the Accountable Authority of the 
Corporation on 23 August 2019.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with:

1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)

3) Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements

4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs 
applicable for not-for-profit entities have  
been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions take precedence over 
AASs. Several AASs are modified by TIs to vary 
application, disclosure format and wording. Where 
modification is required and has had a material 
or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the 

resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars applying the accrual basis 
of accounting and using the historical cost 
convention. Certain balances will apply a different 
measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). 
Where this is the case the different measurement 
basis is disclosed in the associated note. 

Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are 
required to be made about financial information 
being presented. The significant judgements 
and estimates made in the preparation of these 
financial statements are disclosed in the notes 
where amounts affected by those judgements 
and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional 
judgements derived from historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure 
of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions 
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by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned 
Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

2. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of service

This section provides additional information 
about how the Corporation’s funding is applied 
and the accounting policies that are relevant 
for an understanding of the items recognised in 
the financial statements. The primary expenses 
incurred by the Corporation in achieving its 
objectives and the relevant notes are:

Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

Employee benefits expenses  2.1(a)  6,197,883  6,340,950 

Employee related provisions  2.1(b)  1,490,664  1,365,260 

Grants and subsidies  2.2  0  3,668,065 

Other expenditure  2.3  5,951,646  3,368,977 

2.1(a) Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries  5,631,926  5,553,626 

Termination benefits  0  230,107 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (a)  565,957  557,217 

Total employee benefits expenses  6,197,883  6,340,950 

(a) Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Gold State Superannuation Scheme  
(GSS), Government Employees Superannuation Board Schemes (GESBs) and other eligible funds.
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Wages and salaries: Employee expenses include 
all costs related to employment including 
wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax and leave 
entitlements.

Termination benefits: Payable when 
employment is terminated before normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an 
offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of 
employment. Termination benefits are recognised 
when the Corporation is demonstrably committed 
to terminating the employment of current 
employees according to a detailed formal plan 
without possibility of withdrawal or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made  
to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit 
or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, 
or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the Government Employees 
Superannuation Board (GESB) in respect of the GSS 
is paid back into the Consolidated Account by  
the GESB.

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit 
scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting. It is however a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by the Corporation to GESB 

extinguishes the Corporation’s obligations to  
the related superannuation liability.

The Corporation does not recognise any defined 
benefit liabilities because it has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay future benefits 
relating to its employees. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS 
transfer benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed 
by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by  
the Corporation to the GESB.

The GESB and other fund providers administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in 
Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public sector employees 
vary according to commencement and 
implementation dates. 

2.1(b) Employee related provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to 
employees in respect of wages and salaries,  
annual leave and long service leave for services 
rendered up to the reporting date and recorded  
as an expense during the period the services  
are delivered.
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2019 
$

2018 
$

Current   
Employee benefits provisions   
Annual leave (a)  405,027  372,133 
Long service leave (b)  779,433  722,705 
Purchased leave (c)  6,716  2,236 

 1,191,176  1,097,074 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  6,533  6,012 
Total current employee related provisions  1,197,709  1,103,086 

Non-current 
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave (b)  291,367  260,747 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  1,588  1,427 
Total non-current employee related provisions  292,955  262,174 
Total employee related provisions  1,490,664  1,365,260 

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current  
as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end  
of the reporting period.

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the 
present value of expected payments to be made 
in relation to services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date.

(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional 
long service leave provisions are classified as 
current liabilities as the Corporation does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
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because the Corporation has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until 
the employee has completed the requisite years  
of service.

The provision for long service leave is calculated at 
present value as the Corporation does not expect 
to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. 
The present value is measured taking into account 
the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in relation to services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, 
and discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future  
cash outflows.

(c) Purchased leave: The provision for purchased 
leave relates to Public Service employees who 

have entered into an agreement to self-fund 
up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar 
year. The provision recognises the value of salary 
set aside for employees and is measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled.

(d) Employment on-costs: The settlement of 
annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise 
to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is 
the present value of expected future payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities 
and expenses when the employment to which 
they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses, Note 2.3' 
and are not included as part of the Corporation’s 
‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is 
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision'.

2019 
$

2018 
$

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period  7,439  7,619 

Additional/(reversals of ) provisions recognised  682 (180)

Carrying amount at end of period  8,121  7,439 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty – annual 
leave and long service leave

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in 
calculating the Corporation’s annual leave and 
long service leave provisions. These include:

• Expected future salary rates

• Discount rates

• Employee retention rates; and

• Expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions 
may impact on the carrying amount of the annual 
leave and long service leave provisions.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the 
present value of annual leave and long service 
leave liabilities is recognised as employee  
benefits expense.

2019 
$

2018 
$

2.2 Grants and subsidies
Recurrent
Business Local service - Operational grants  0  3,668,065 

 0  3,668,065 

Transactions in which the Corporation provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or 
labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘Grant 
expenses’. Grants are paid as general purpose grants as they are not subject to conditions regarding their 
use. Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an 
expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable.
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2019 
$

2018 
$

2.3 Other expenditure
Supplies and services
Premises - accommodation expenses  1,173,246  1,161,390 
Media, advertising and promotions  189,446  92,210 
Travel and accommodation  75,065  78,855 
Professional services  4,002,729  583,352 
Sponsorships  13,474  500 
Other services  287,112  268,793 
Consumable supplies  83,763  99,232 
Royalties for Region Fund payments  51,850  197,416 
On Demand Transport Reform project  0  808,640 
Total supplies and services expenses  5,876,685  3,290,388 
Other expenses
Employment on-costs  682 (180)
Other employee related expenses  28,359  36,179 
Audit fees  45,920  42,590 
Total other expenses  74,961  78,589 
Total other expenditure  5,951,646  3,368,977 

Supplies and services:

Operating lease payments under accommodation 
expenses are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the 
leased asset. [AASB 117.33]

All other supplies and services are recognised as 
an expense in the reporting period in which they 
are incurred.

Other expenses:

Employment on-costs includes workers' 
compensation insurance. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and 
long service leave liabilities is included at Note 
2.1(b) Employee related provision. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for 
leave are employee benefits and are not included 
in employment on-costs.

Other employee related expenses include staff 
recruitment, staff training and staff amenities.
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3. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how the Corporation obtains its funding and  
the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding.  
The primary income received by the Corporation and the relevant notes are:

Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

Income from State Government 3.1 12,734,244  11,083,281 

User charges and fees 3.2  411,182  390,182 

Grants and contributions 3.3  105,273  0 

Interest revenue 3.4  57,464  46,155 

Other revenue 3.5 84,397  75,954 

3.1 Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation (a)  12,611,000  10,751,000 

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:

Department of Justice  15,194  0 

Department of Finance - Building Management and Works  108,050  108,281 

 123,244  108,281 

Royalties for Regions Fund:

Regional Community Services Account (b) 0  224,000 

Total income from State Government  12,734,244  11,083,281 
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(a) Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Corporation gains control of the appropriated funds. The Corporation gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable 
for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises  
the following: 

• Cash component; and 

• A receivable (asset). 

The receivable (holding account – Note 5.2) comprises the following: 

• The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and 

• Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year. 

(b) The Regional Community Services Account is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for 
Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas and  
are recognised as revenue when the Corporation gains control on receipt of the funds. 

2019 
$

2018 
$

3.2 User charges and fees
Workshop income 80,818  78,955 

Business Migration visa application fees 320,250  302,250 

Fees for mediation services 10,114  8,977 

Total user charges and fees  411,182  390,182 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. For 
provision of services, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

3.3 Grants and contributions
Funding for staging of the 2019 China Business Forum 105,273  0 

105,273 0 

71 Overview of agency Executive summary Agency performance Disclosures & legal compliance Significant issues Appendix

Notes to the  
Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19

Disclosures & legal compliance



2019 
$

2018 
$

3.4 Interest revenue
Bank interest income 57,464  46,155 

 57,464  46,155 

3.5 Other revenue
Sponsorships 0  20,000 

Return of unspent operational funding 45,342  20,894 

Miscellaneous 39,055  35,060 

Total other revenue  84,397  75,954 

4. Key assets

Assets the Corporation utilises for economic benefit or service potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Corporation utilises to gain economic 
benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial 
information about the performance of these assets:

Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

Furniture, plant and equipment 4.1 135,903  36,487 

Intangible assets 4.2 124,426  180,744 
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4.1 Furniture, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 June 2019 
$

Computing 
equipment 

$

Furniture, fittings  
and equipment 

$
Total 

$

1 July 2018

Gross carrying amount 211,235 132,720  343,955 

Accumulated depreciation (201,292) (106,176) (307,468)

Carrying amount at start of period 9,943 26,544  36,487 

Additions 147,762 7,230  154,992 

Depreciation (28,493) (27,083) (55,576)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 129,212 6,691 135,903 

Gross carrying amount 358,997 139,950  498,947 

Accumulated depreciation (229,785) (133,259) (363,044)

Initial recognition

Items of furniture, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where 
an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Items of furniture, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total).

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the historical cost model is used for the measurement of 
all items of furniture, plant and equipment where they are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period

2019 
$

2018 
$

Depreciation

Computing equipment 28,493 15,786 

Furniture, fittings and equipment 27,083 26,544 

Total depreciation for the period  55,576  42,330 

As at 30 June 2019, there were no indications of impairment to furniture, plant and equipment. All 
surplus assets at 30 June 2019 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off.

Please refer to note 4.2 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed 
for intangible assets.

Finite useful lives

All furniture, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives for the different asset 
classes for current and prior years are:

Computing equipment 3 to 4 years

Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where appropriate.
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Impairment

Non-financial assets, including items of furniture, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount  
and an impairment loss is recognised.

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised through profit or loss.

As the Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised 
assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful 
life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and 
to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

4.2 Intangible assets

Year ended 30 June 2019 
$

Computer 
software 

$

Website 
development 

$
Total 

$

1 July 2018
Gross carrying amount 666,471 86,850  753,321 
Accumulated amortisation (548,174) (24,403) (572,577)
Carrying amount at start of period 118,297 62,447  180,744 

Additions 25,821 0  25,821 
Amortisation expense (65,091) (17,048) (82,139)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 79,027 45,399 124,426 
Gross carrying amount 692,292 86,850  779,142 
Accumulated amortisation (613,265) (41,451) (654,716)
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Initial recognition

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. Costs incurred below the 
threshold are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

4.2.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period 2019 
$

2018 
$

Amortisation
Computer software 65,091  57,413 
Website development 17,048  16,020 
Total amortisation for the period  82,139  73,433 

As at 30 June 2019 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

The Corporation held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting 
period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the 
asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Corporation have a finite 
useful life and zero residual value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.
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The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Computing software 3 to 4 years

Website development costs 5 years

Computer Software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as part of the tangible asset. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website development costs

Website costs are expensed when incurred unless they directly relate to the acquisition or development 
of an intangible asset. In this instance they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation 
to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during 
the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits.

Impairment of intangible assets 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of 
impairment is identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1.
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5. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Corporation’s controlled operations 
and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Notes 2019 
$

2018 
$

Receivables  5.1  256,120  109,368 

Amounts receivable for services  5.2  780,000  685,000 

Other current assets  5.3  455,040  374,829 

Payables  5.4 287,267  74,264 

Other current liabilities  5.5  0  9,000 

5.1 Receivables
Trade and other debtors  1,980  660 

Net GST recoverable  236,919  93,050 

Accrued interest  17,221  15,658 

Total receivables  256,120  109,368 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Current 60,000  60,000 

Non-current 720,000  625,000 

Balance at end of period  780,000  685,000 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is 
restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
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Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the 
Holding Account).

5.3 Other current assets

2019 
$

2018 
$

Prepayments 451,807 374,829 

Other 3,233 0 

 455,040  374,829 

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure 
made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.4 Payables

Trade payables 458 458 

Accrued expenses 264,700 52,188 

Accrued salaries 22,109 21,618 

Total payables  287,267  74,264 

Payables are recognised as the amounts payable when the Corporation becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. 
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight after the reporting period. The Corporation considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

5.5 Other current liabilities

Unearned revenue 0 9,000 

 0  9,000 
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6. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows 
of the Corporation.

Notes

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1

Commitments 6.2

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 6.2.1

Other expenditure commitments 6.2.2

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents

 2019 
$

2018 
$

Cash and cash equivalents

– Bank account 2,526,698 1,535,805 

– Cash investments - investment with Department  
of Treasury 500,000  500,000 

– Cash on hand 250  250 

Total cash and cash equivalents  3,026,948  2,036,055 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

– Royalties for Regions Fund - Western Australia 
Regional Small Business Awards 0 24,507 

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 0 24,507 

Balance at end of period  3,026,948  2,060,562 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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6.2 Commitments
The commitments below are GST exclusive.

6.2.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments for motor vehicles and office accommodation are payable 
as follows:

2019 
$

2018 
$

Within 1 year 761,259  793,481 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,008,731  3,145,034 
Later than 5 years 657,167  1,465,220 

4,427,157  5,403,735 

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern 
of benefits derived from the leased properties.

6.2.2 Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments, being provision of market research, network services, consultancy 
services, maintenance and cloud hosting of financial management information system and advisory 
services for the Business Local service contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 3,816,800  60,336 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,700,451  60,336 

 7,517,251  120,672 

The increase in other expenditure commitments relates to annual contractual obligations under a three 
(3) year agreement for services under the Business Local program which commenced 1 July 2018.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies - operating lease commitments
The Corporation has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements and has determined that 
the lessors retain substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases 
have been classified as operating leases.
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7. Financial Instruments and Contingencies

Notes

Financial instruments 7.1

Contingent assets and liabilities 7.2

7.1 Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period are: 

2019 
$

2018 
$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,026,948  2,036,055 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 0  24,507 

Receivables (i) 0  701,318 

Financial assets at amortised cost (i) 799,201  0 

Total financial assets  3,826,149  2,761,880 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 287,267  74,264 

Total financial liability  287,267  74,264 

(i) The amount of receivables/Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO 
(statutory receivable).

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but 
are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate.

No contingent assets and contingent liabilities exist as at 30 June 2019.
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8. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other 
pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report.

Notes

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 8.1

Key management personnel 8.2

Related party transactions 8.3

Remuneration of auditors 8.4

Explanatory statement 8.5

8.1 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects  
of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement; impairment; and  
hedge accounting.

The Corporation applied AASB 9 prospectively, with an initial application date of 1 July 2018. The 
adoption of AASB 9 has resulted in changes in accounting policies. In accordance with AASB 9.7.2.15, the 
Corporation has not restated the comparative information which continues to be reported under AASB 
139. The effect of adopting AASB 9 was assessed as not material, and therefore no remeasurement was 
made at the start of the financial period.

(a) Classification and measurement

Under AASB 9, financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (fair value through OCI) or fair value through profit or loss (fair value through 
P/L). The classification is based on two criteria: the Corporation’s business model for managing the assets; 
and whether the assets’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the 
principal amount outstanding.
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The assessment of the Corporation’s business model was made as of the date of initial application,  
1 July 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on financial assets are solely comprised  
of principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances as at the initial recognition  
of the assets.

The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to the 
Corporation. The following are the changes in the classification of the Corporation’s financial assets: 

• Trade and other debtors and accrued interest classified as Receivables as at 30 June 2018 are held to 
collect contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and 
interest. These are classified and measured as Financial assets at amortised cost beginning 1 July 2018.

• The Corporation did not designate any financial assets as at fair value through P/L.

In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, the Corporation had the following required (or elected) 
reclassifications as at 1 July 2018:

AASB 9 category
Amortised 

cost 
$

Fair value 
through OCI 

$

Fair value 
through P/L 

$
AASB 139 category $
Receivables

Trade and other debtors  660  660 
Accrued interest 15,658 15,658 
Amounts receivable for services  685,000  685,000 

 701,318 0 0

(b) Impairment 

The adoption of AASB 9 has fundamentally changed the Corporation’s accounting for impairment losses 
for financial assets by replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires the Corporation to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all 
financial assets not held at fair value through P/L.

Upon adoption of AASB 9, the Corporation has not recognised any additional impairment on the 
Corporation's receivables.
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8.2 Key management personnel
The Corporation has determined key management personnel to include Responsible Minister, members 
of the accountable authority and senior officers of the Corporation. The Corporation does not incur 
expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on  
State Finances.

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for members of the 
accountable authority and senior officers of the Corporation for the reporting period are presented 
within the following bands:

2019 2018
Compensation of members of the accountable authority
Compensation Band ($)
0 - 10,000 5 4
10,001 - 20,000 3 4
20,001 - 30,000 0 1
Compensation of other senior officers

Compensation Band ($)

140,001 - 150,000 1 0
160,001 - 170,000 1 1
170,001 - 180,000 0 1
190,001 - 200,000 1 1
280,001 - 290,000 0 1
300,001 - 310,000 1 0

$ $
Total compensation of key management personnel  893,027  904,511 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of 
members of the accountable authority and senior officers.
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8.3 Related party transactions
The Corporation is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of the Corporation include:

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all members of the accountable authority and their close family members, and their controlled or 

jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole 

of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities);
• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with related parties
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Corporation, there were no other related party 
transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their 
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

8.4 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year 
is as follows:

2019 
$

2018 
$

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls and key 
performance indicators 29,435 29,000 

8.5 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2019, and between the actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are 
generally greater than:

a) 5% and $253,000 for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and

b) 5% and $58,000 for the Statement of Financial Position.
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense  6,184,000  6,197,883  6,340,950  13,883 (143,067)

Supplies and services A  5,987,000  5,876,685  3,290,388 (110,315)  2,586,297 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  140,000  137,715  115,763 (2,285)  21,952 

Communications expense  110,000  101,802  89,130 (8,198)  12,672 

Maintenance expense  56,000  61,474  49,375  5,474  12,099 

Grants and subsidies B  0  0  3,668,065  0 (3,668,065)

Other expenses  167,000  74,961  78,589 (92,039) (3,628)

Total cost of services  12,644,000  12,450,520  13,632,260 (193,480) (1,181,740)

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees  292,000  411,182  390,182  119,182  21,000 

Grants and contributions  0  105,273  0  105,273  105,273 

Interest revenue  30,000  57,464  46,155  27,464  11,309 

Other revenue  0  84,397  75,954  84,397  8,443 

Total Revenue  322,000  658,316  512,291  336,316  146,025 

Total income other than income from 
State Government  322,000  658,316  512,291  336,316  146,025 

NET COST OF SERVICES  12,322,000  11,792,204  13,119,969 (529,796) (1,327,765)

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$
Income from State Government

Service appropriation C  12,111,000  12,611,000  10,751,000  500,000  1,860,000 

Services received free of charge  190,000  123,244  108,281 (66,756)  14,963 

Royalties for Regions Fund  0  0  224,000  0 (224,000)

Total income from State Government  12,301,000  12,734,244  11,083,281  433,244  1,650,963 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (21,000)  942,040 (2,036,688)  963,040  2,978,728 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (21,000)  942,040 (2,036,688)  963,040  2,978,728 

Major Estimate and Actual (2019) Variance Narratives

Nil

Major Actual (2019) and Comparative (2018) Variance Narratives

A) Supplies and services increased by $2.59 million (78.6%) mainly due to the classification of the Business Local service expenses under this category to 
reflect the fee-for-service delivery method.

B) Grants and subsidies decreased by $3.67 million (100%) due to the classification of the Business Local service expenses under supplies and services to 
reflect the fee-for-service delivery method.

C) Service appropriation increased by $1.86 million (17.3%) mainly due to a once off return of surplus funds to the Department of Treasury via a reduction 
to appropriation in 2017/18 and the transfer of the Western Australia Building and Construction Code Monitoring Unit from the Department of Mines, 
Industry Regulation and Safety. This is offset by the net impact of the 2017/18 Voluntary Targeted Separation Scheme (VTSS).
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$
Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,D  1,429,000 3,026,948 2,036,055  1,597,948  990,893 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  0 0 24,507  0 (24,507)
Receivables 2,E  138,000 256,120 109,368  118,120  146,752 
Amounts receivable for services  60,000 60,000 60,000  0  0 
Other current assets 3,F  206,000 455,040 374,829  249,040  80,211 
Total Current Assets  1,833,000  3,798,108  2,604,759  1,965,108 1,193,349 

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services G  720,000 720,000 625,000  0  95,000 
Furniture, plant and equipment 4,H  70,000 135,903 36,487  65,903  99,416 
Intangible assets 5  256,000 124,426 180,744 (131,574) (56,318)
Total Non-Current Assets  1,046,000  980,329  842,231 (65,671) 138,098 
TOTAL ASSETS  2,879,000  4,778,437  3,446,990  1,899,437 1,331,447 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables 6,I  200,000 287,267 74,264  87,267  213,003 
Provisions 7,J  993,000 1,197,709 1,103,086  204,709  94,623 
Other current liabilities  5,000 0 9,000 (5,000) (9,000)
Total Current Liabilities 1,198,000 1,484,976 1,186,350 286,976 298,626 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions  257,000  292,955  262,174  35,955  30,781 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  257,000  292,955  262,174  35,955  30,781 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,455,000  1,777,931  1,448,524  322,931  329,407 
NET ASSETS  1,424,000  3,000,506  1,998,466  1,576,506  1,002,040 

EQUITY

Contributed equity  1,479,000  1,478,885  1,418,885 (115)  60,000 
Accumulated surplus (55,000)  1,521,621  579,581  1,576,621  942,040 
TOTAL EQUITY  1,424,000  3,000,506  1,998,466  1,576,506  1,002,040 

Major Estimate and Actual (2019) Variance Narratives

1) Cash and cash equivalents exceeded estimates by $1.60 million (111.8%) due mainly to reduced salary expense and a $0.7 million cash underspent in the 
Business Local service.

2) Receivables exceeded estimates by $0.12 million (85.6%) due to an increase in GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office.

3) Other current assets exceeded estimates by $0.25 million (120.9%) as a result of increased prepayments during the year.

4) Furniture, plant and equipment exceeded estimates by $0.07 million (94.1%) due to additional assets purchased for the implementation of the 
Government's GovNext program.

5) Intangible assets under estimates by $0.13 million (51.4%) due to higher than expected accumulated amortisation brought forward from 2017/18.

6) Payables exceeded estimates by $0.09 million (43.6%) mainly due to the accrual of Business Local expenses where services were incurred but not paid.

7) Current provisions exceeded estimates by $0.20 million (20.6%) due to a higher than expected annual leave and long service provisions in 2018/19.
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Major Actual (2019) and Comparative (2018) Variance Narratives

D) Cash and cash equivalents increased by $0.99 million (48.7%) due mainly to reduced salary expense and a $0.7 million cash underspent in the Business 
Local service.

E) Receivables increased by $0.15 million (134.2%) due to an increase in GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office.

F) Other current assets increased by $0.08 million (21.4%) as a result of increased prepayments during the year.

G) Non-current amount receivable for services increased by $0.10 million (15.2%) due to rising Holding Account balances as a result of increase in depreciation 
expense and leave liabilities.

H) Furniture, plant and equipment increased by $0.10 million (272.5%) with additional assets purchased for the implementation of the Government's  
GovNext program.

I) Payables increased by $0.21 million (286.8%) mainly due to the accrual of Business Local expenses where services were incurred but not paid.

J) Current provisions increased by $0.09 million (8.6%) due to a higher than expected annual leave and long service provisions in 2018/19.
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation K  11,956,000  12,456,000  10,596,000  500,000  1,860,000 
Capital appropriation  60,000  60,000  60,000  0  0 
Holding account drawdown  60,000  60,000  109,000  0 (49,000)
Royalties for Regions Fund  0  0  224,000  0 (224,000)
Net cash provided by State Government  12,076,000  12,576,000  10,989,000  500,000  1,587,000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (6,133,000) (6,076,858) (6,350,212)  56,142  273,354 
Supplies and services 8,L (5,828,000) (5,519,751) (3,336,740)  308,249 (2,183,011)
Communication expense (110,000) (100,510) (89,079)  9,490 (11,431)
Maintenance expense (56,000) (167,237) (32,393) (111,237) (134,844)
Grants and subsidies M  0  0 (3,668,065)  0  3,668,065 
GST payments on purchases (680,000) (588,445) (706,433)  91,555  117,988 
Other payments (167,000) (85,868) (81,859)  81,132 (4,009)
Receipts
User charges and fees  292,000  411,182  390,182  119,182  21,000 
Grants and contributions  0  105,273  0  105,273  105,273 
Interest received  30,000  55,902  52,320  25,902  3,582 
GST receipts on sales  10,000  27,016  18,202  17,016  8,814 
GST receipts from taxation authority  670,000  436,899  682,609 (233,101) (245,710)
Other receipts  0  73,597  80,555  73,597 (6,958)
Net cash used in operating activities (11,972,000) (11,428,800) (13,040,913)  543,200  1,612,113 
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Variance 
Note  

$ 

Estimate 
2019  

$

Actual 
2019  

$

Actual 
2018  

$

Variance between 
estimate and actual 

$

Variance between actual 
results for 2019 and 2018 

$
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (120,000) (180,814) (17,688) (60,814) (163,126)
Net cash used in investing activities (120,000) (180,814) (17,688) (60,814) (163,126)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,000)  966,386 (2,069,601)  982,386  3,035,987 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 1,445,000  2,060,562  4,130,163  615,562 (2,069,601)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE  
END OF PERIOD  1,429,000  3,026,948  2,060,562  1,597,948  966,386 

Major Estimate and Actual (2019) Variance Narratives

8) Supplies and services underspent by $0.31 million (5.3%) mainly due to underspent in the Business Local service.

Major Actual (2019) and Comparative (2018) Variance Narratives

K) Service appropriation increased by $1.86 million (17.6%) mainly due to a once off return of surplus funds to the Department of Treasury via a reduction 
to appropriation in 2017/18 and the transfer of the Western Australia Building and Construction Code Monitoring Unit from the Department of Mines, 
Industry Regulation and Safety. This is offset by the net impact of the 2017/18 Voluntary Targeted Separation Scheme (VTSS).

L) Supplies and services increased by $2.18 million (65.4%) mainly due to the classification of the Business Local service expenses under this category to 
reflect the fee-for-service delivery method.

M) Grants and subsidies decreased by $3.67 million (100%) due to the classification of the Business Local service expenses under supplies and services to 
reflect the fee-for-service delivery method.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan  
(DAIP) outcomes
The SBDC is committed to creating a community 
that is accessible and inclusive to help minimise 
the impacts of disability. The agency’s endorsed 
DAIP covers the period 2017-21 and includes 
initiatives focused on seven outcome areas, such 
that people with disability:

1. Have the same opportunities as other people 
to access the services of, and any events 
organised by, the SBDC.

2. Have the same opportunities as other  
people to access the SBDC’s buildings and 
other facilities.

3. Receive information from the SBDC in a 
format that will enable them to access it as 
readily as other people.

4. Receive the same level and quality of service 
from the staff of the SBDC as other people.

5. Have the same opportunities as others to 
make complaints to the SBDC.

6. Have the same opportunities as others to 
participate in any public consultation by  
the SBDC.

7. Have the same opportunities as other people 
to obtain and maintain employment within 
the SBDC.

Equal employment opportunity (EEO)
The SBDC has met its obligations under Section 
145 (preparation and implementation of 
management plans) of the Equal Opportunity Act 
1984 by progressing EEO initiatives outlined in the 
agency’s EEO Management Plan.

The three high-level outcomes relating to EEO are:

• The SBDC values EEO and diversity and the 
work environment is free from harassment.

• The workplace is free from employment 
practices that are biased or discriminate 
unlawfully against employees or  
potential employees.

• Employment programs and practices  
recognise and include strategies to achieve 
workforce diversity.

Compliance with public sector standards 
and ethical codes
The SBDC has complied with Section 31 of 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994 in the 
administration of the agency’s human resource 

management practices relating to public sector 
standards and codes of ethics and conduct.

During 2018-19, the SBDC received no claims 
against the public sector standards and no reports 
of non-compliance with the WA Code of Ethics or 
the agency’s own Code of Conduct.

The SBDC maintains this standard of compliance 
through the following measurements  
and initiatives:

• Quality feedback is provided to applicants as 
part of all recruitment processes.

• Information about Public Sector Standards  
is included on the SBDC website and covered 
at inductions.

• Employees leaving the agency are surveyed 
on all aspects of their employment, including 
questions relating to compliance with the 
SBDC Code of Conduct.

Corruption prevention

The SBDC is committed to the highest level 
of integrity, ethics and equity. Corruption 
prevention forms part of the agency’s overall risk 
management strategy as an important element of 
internal control.
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Staff and Board members are regularly briefed  
on a range of statutory and administrative 
requirements relating to ethical conduct, including 
the requirement to declare conflicts of interest.  
A comprehensive induction program, the inclusion 
of policies on the SBDC intranet, and regular 
internal communications are also employed to 
ensure staff are aware of, and understand,  
their responsibilities.

Publications

The SBDC produces a wide range of publications, 
in hard copy and electronic format, including:

• Annual reports: Each financial year, the annual 
report highlights the agency’s business and 
financial activities. Electronic (PDF) copies  
of previous reports are available from the  
SBDC website.

• Promotional publications: Outlining the 
SBDC’s services.

• Information leaflets and guides: Providing 
advice and support for small business 
operators. Most are available in hard copy, or 
can be downloaded from the SBDC website.

• E-news: The SBDC produces a monthly 
e-newsletter that provides relevant business 
and SBDC updates. It is available for free and 

subscribers can sign-up from the  
SBDC website.

Recordkeeping plan

The SBDC’s recordkeeping plan was approved  
by the State Records Office in August 2014.  
A statutory review of the plan has commenced 
and will be submitted to the State Records 
Commission in due course.

The Corporation continues to monitor its 
recordkeeping systems to ensure they are effective 
and efficient in the overall management of the 
information resources.

The SBDC has maintained an effective training 
program, with all new staff and contractors 
receiving comprehensive induction training 
detailing policies and procedures, and their 
recordkeeping responsibilities. Additional training 
materials are available from the SBDC’s intranet for 
staff and tailored training to meet specific needs is 
available on request. The effectiveness of training  
is regularly monitored and reviewed to ensure  
it meets the needs of the SBDC and State  
Records Office.

Unauthorised use of credit cards

SBDC officers hold corporate credit cards where 
their functions warrant usage of this facility. 
Despite each cardholder being reminded of their 
obligations annually under the SBDC’s credit card 
policy, one employee inadvertently used the 
corporate credit card for personal use. The matter 
was not referred for disciplinary action as the 
Chief Finance Officer noted prompt advice and 
settlement of the personal use amount and that 
the nature of the expenditure was immaterial and 
characteristic of an honest mistake.

Details 2019

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure for the reporting period

$9

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled by the due date 
(within five working days)

$9

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled after the period 
(after five working days)

$0

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure outstanding at balance date

$0

Other legal requirements Small Business Development Corporation  
Annual Report 2018-19

95 Overview of agency Executive summary Agency performance Disclosures & legal compliance Significant issues AppendixDisclosures & legal compliance



Advertising expenditure

In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, set out below are details of expenditure 
incurred during 2018-19 in relation to:

Advertising agencies: $99,274

• The West Australian $2,310

• Business News $11,000

• Google Adwords $67,000

• Facebook $5,452

• Telstra $9,134

• Sensis $4,378

Media advertising organisations: $73,391

• Carat Australia Media Services $73,262

• Adcorp $129

Market research organisations: $77,397

• Advantage Communications and Marketing $16,897

• Painted Dog Research $60,500

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations Nil

Total expenditure for 2018-19: $250,062

Other legal requirements

Legislation impacting on activity

In the performance of its functions, the SBDC 
complies with the following legislation:

• A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax)  
Act 1999 (Cth)

• Auditor General Act 2006

• Business Names (Commonwealth Powers)  
Act 2012

• Business Names Act 1962

• Business Names Registration Act 2011 (Cth)

• Copyright Act 1968 (Cth)

• Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements 
Act 1985

• Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990

• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

• Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913

• Disability Services Act 1993

• Electoral Act 1907

• Electronic Transaction Act 2011

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984

• Evidence Act 1906

• Evidence Act 1995 (Cth)

• Financial Management Act 2006

• Freedom of Information Act 1992

• Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 (Cth)
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Other legal requirements

• Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)

• Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)

• Industrial Relations Act 1979

• Legal Deposit Act 2012

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

• Pay-roll Tax Act 2002

• Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002

• Privacy Act 1988 (Cth)

• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

• Public Sector Management Act 1994

• Small Business Development Corporation  
Act 1983

• Spam Act 2003 (Cth)

• State Records Act 2000

• State Superannuation Act 2000

• State Supply Commission Act 1991

• State Trading Concerns Act 1916

• Superannuation Guarantee (Administration)  
Act 1992 (Cth)

• Taxation Administration Act 2003

• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981

Cth = Commonwealth Acts
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Significant issues impacting the agency

• In response to the Government’s election 
commitment to improve security of payments 
in the building and construction industry, the 
Corporation is working with other agencies 
to develop a fairer business environment and 
enhanced protections for subcontractors.  
In line with this, a unit to support 
subcontractors is being created within 
the Corporation to receive and investigate 
complaints of non-payment and other unfair 
commercial activities.

• The Corporation continues to work with all 
tiers of government to influence the policy 
and regulatory environment affecting the 
small business sector in WA. This includes 
contributing to state and national reviews  
and inquiries, examining policy and regulatory 
proposals and advocating on behalf of small 
businesses to minimise compliance burdens 
and improve the operating environment. 
In line with this, the Corporation is involved 
in Streamline WA, an across-government 
initiative to create better ways of developing 
and applying regulation to make it easier to 
do business in Western Australia, as well as 
progressing prompt payment reforms by  
the Government.

• Collectively host to half of all small businesses 
in the state, 33 local governments are 
now participating in the Small Business 
Friendly Local Governments initiative, which 
recognises local government authorities 
that are committed to actively supporting 
small businesses in their area. Further, the 
Corporation is partnering with the Cities of 
Stirling and Canning on a Small Business 
Friendly Approvals pilot to streamline 
regulatory approvals for small businesses,  
with a view to extending the initiative to  
the network of small business friendly  
local governments.

• The Small Business Friendly Projects initiative 
continues to be rolled out across state and 
local government construction projects, 
providing works agencies with better practice 
guides and tools to minimise disruptions to 
neighbouring small businesses. A guide for 
small businesses has also been developed 
to help them proactively prepare for the 
implications of upcoming works.

• The first full year of the Corporation’s re-
modelled Business Local outreach service 
provides small businesses with access to a 
range of timely and relevant enterprise skills 
development workshops. Since commencing 

on 2 July 2018, more than 2,800 prospective 
and existing small business operators 
throughout the metro area have attended 
workshops specifically aimed at improving 
their business acumen, including in the areas 
of financial literacy, digital literacy, contracting 
and procurement, strategic planning and 
project management. Regional small 
businesses have also benefitted from specialist 
one-to-one advisory services delivered by 
contracted Business Local service providers.

• The Government’s Business Migration program 
has delivered a record capital inflow into WA in 
excess of $700 million during 2018-19 and the 
creation of more than 1,000 new jobs. Under 
the program, the Corporation provides State 
nominations to business migrants in a range  
of business and investment visa categories  
and promotes WA opportunities in prime 
overseas markets.
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Appendix
Stakeholder representation and collaboration

The SBDC is a strong advocate for the WA small 
business sector across a broad range of State and 
Federal Government working groups collaborating 
on key small business issues. 

Such representation provides a coordinated policy 
response and ensures the interests of WA small 
businesses are represented.

During 2018-19, the SBDC worked with the:

• Australian Competition and  
Consumer Commission

• Australian Securities and  
Investments Commission

• Australian Small Business and Family  
Enterprise Ombudsman

• Building Commission, Department of Mines, 
Industry Regulation and Safety

• Chamber of Commerce and Industry of WA

• Commonwealth Treasury

• Consumer Protection Division, Department of 
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety

• Department of Finance

• Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science  
and Innovation

• Department of the Premier and Cabinet

• Department of Training and  
Workforce Development

• Department of Treasury

• Department of Water and  
Environmental Regulation

• Economic Regulation Authority

• Lotterywest and Australian Lottery and 
Newsagents Association

• National Small Business Commissioners Group

• Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry 
of WA

• Security of Payment Reform Industry  
Advisory Group

The SBDC has also formed a number of alliances 
with other stakeholders in the development and 
delivery of services, support and programs to the 
state’s small business sector, including:

• Better Regulation Unit, Department of Treasury

• Defence West, Department of Jobs, Tourism, 
Science and Innovation

• Department of Immigration and  
Border Protection

• John Curtin Law Clinic and Curtin University

• Migration Institute of Australia (WA Branch)

• Office of Multicultural Interests, Department 
of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries

• Small Business Friendly Local Governments

• Tourism Council of WA

• Tourism WA

• WA Local Government Association
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